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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

Judge William J. Martínez 
 
Civil Action No. 18-cv-3245-WJM 
Bankruptcy Case Nos. 18-14330-MER, 18-14333-MER, and 18-14334-MER 
 
In re: 
 
WAY TO GROW, INC. 
PURE AGROBUSINESS, INC. 
GREEN DOOR AGRO, INC. 
 
 Debtors. 
 
WAY TO GROW, INC., et al., 
 
 Appellants, 
 
v. 
 
COREY INNISS 
 
 Appellee. 
 
 

ORDER AFFIRMING DECISION OF BANKRUPTCY COURT 
 
 

Way to Grow, Inc. (“Way to Grow”), Pure Agrobusiness, Inc. (“Pure Agro”), and 

Green Door Agro, Inc. (“Green Door”) (together, “Debtors”), appeal the bankruptcy 

court’s decision to dismiss their Chapter 11 petitions “for cause” given that Debtors’ 

business relies on selling equipment and supplies to persons and entities growing 

marijuana, and Debtors know that the equipment and supplies will be used to grow 

marijuana.  Such conduct is legal under the laws of Colorado and California, where 

Debtors operate, but remains illegal under federal law. 

For the reasons explained below, this Court affirms the bankruptcy court as to 

Way to Grow and Green Door for the reasons explained by the bankruptcy court.  As to 
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Pure Agro, the Court also affirms, but for a slightly different reason evident in the record. 

I.  STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In reviewing a bankruptcy court’s decision, the district court normally functions as 

an appellate court, reviewing the bankruptcy court’s legal conclusions de novo and its 

factual findings for clear error.  28 U.S.C. § 158(a); In re Warren, 512 F.3d 1241, 1248 

(10th Cir. 2008). 

II.  BACKGROUND1 

A. Origins of the Dispute 

Appellee Corey Inniss (“Inniss”) founded Way to Grow in Fort Collins in 2002 and 

eventually opened six more retail stores throughout Colorado.  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. 

at 115.  In Debtors’ words, Way to Grow’s business model was “to market its stores as 

garden centers and carry high-end soil, nutrients, lights, and equipment to grow plants 

in both an indoor and outdoor setting.”  (ECF No. 27 at 7.) 

In 2014, a man named Richard Byrd (not a party here) founded and became 

CEO of Pure Agro, which operates as a holding company.  (Id. at 8.)  In 2015, Pure 

Agro “acquired [Green Door], a Los Angeles-based hydroponic and gardening retail 

store.”  (Id.) 

In January 2016, Inniss sold Way to Grow to Pure Agro for $25 million, with $2.5 

                                            
1 The record on appeal has been filed in a disorganized fashion.  (See ECF Nos. 23, 26.)  

Also, attached to their merits briefs, the parties have filed separate appendices of record 
excerpts, each with a set of page numbers that differs from the record—while sometimes still 
citing the record, rather than their appendices, in their briefs.  For simplicity when citing to the 
record in these circumstances, the Court will cite directly to the CM/ECF docket number and 
page number where the cited material can be found, regardless of whether it is characterized as 
a part of the record or an appendix.  Also, for matters not in dispute, the Court will cite to the 
parties’ briefs where the appropriate record citations may be found.  All ECF page citations, 
whether to the record or to a brief, are to the page number in the CM/ECF header, which rarely 
matches the document’s internal pagination. 
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million paid upfront and the remaining $22.5 million coming by way of a promissory note 

in Inniss’s favor, secured by each Debtor’s property (then-existing and after-acquired), 

accounts receivable, and inventory.  Id.  Inniss also received 12,500 shares of Pure 

Agro’s common stock, amounting to a little more than 21% of Pure Agro’s outstanding 

shares.  Id. 

Way to Grow’s “operations . . . remained largely unchanged” after Pure Agro’s 

acquisition, “continu[ing] to market and sell high-end nutrients, soil, and equipment for 

growing plants in a soil-based or water-based medium.”  (Id. at 10.)  Green Door 

“operated in a similar manner, selling similar products and gardening supplies in a retail 

setting.”  (Id.) 

Sometime in 2017, Debtors defaulted on the promissory note.  (Id. at 10–11.)  

Debtors blame Inniss (who continued as a consultant) and his ex-father-in-law (who 

became CEO of Pure Agro) for this default, accusing them of “inappropriate activities 

designed to strip the future cash flow away from [Way to Grow] and into their own 

pockets.”  (Id.)  In any event, in April 2018, Inniss filed a lawsuit in Larimer County 

(Colorado) District Court on his own behalf, and derivatively on behalf of Pure Agro, to 

appoint a receiver over Debtors.  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 115. 

B. Bankruptcy Proceedings 

Before the state court could rule on Inniss’s request for a receiver, each Debtor 

filed a Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition, and the three petitions were jointly administered.  

See id. at 114.  Debtors soon moved the bankruptcy court for permission to spend cash 

collateral to meet ongoing business expenses, representing that they “generally sell 

equipment for indoor hydroponic gardening and related supplies. . . . While the 

hydroponic gardening equipment may [be] and is used for many types of crops, the 
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Debtors’ future business expansion plan is tied to the growing cannabis industry which 

is heavily reliant on hydroponic gardening.”  (ECF No. 23-1 at 53.)  But Debtors were 

quick to add, somewhat inconsistently, that they “do not own or do business with 

cannabis.”  (Id.) 

The bankruptcy court did not rule on this motion before Inniss, appearing as a 

secured creditor, filed a motion asking the bankruptcy court to abstain in favor of the 

Larimer County receivership action, or to dismiss the petitions altogether.  (ECF No. 

27-1 at 32.)  Regarding dismissal, Inniss argued, among other things, that the 

bankruptcy court should dismiss Debtors’ petitions “for cause” under 11 U.S.C. 

§ 1112(b) (discussed in detail below in Part III.A) because there was 

no possibility of reorganization within a reasonable time as 
proceeds from the sale of the Debtors’ products come from 
cannabis companies who violate federal law. . . . 

* * * 

The Debtors’ businesses are not the kind that can meet 
11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(3)’s good faith requirement [also 
discussed Part III.A] for confirming a plan because their sale 
of supplies and equipment to cannabis growers taints 
revenue and places assets at risk of forfeiture and seizure 
under federal law. 

(ECF No. 27-1 at 56, 58.)  Through later briefing, it became clear that the criminal 

prohibition Inniss believed Debtors were violating was the federal aiding and abetting 

statute, 18 U.S.C. § 2—more specifically, that Debtors were aiding and abetting the 

growing of marijuana, which is prohibited under the Controlled Substances Act 

(sometimes referred to in the record as the “CSA”).  (ECF No. 27-1 at 287–94.) 

The bankruptcy court eventually held a four-day evidentiary hearing on these 

allegations.  See Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 114.  It rejected the argument that Debtors 
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could be found guilty of aiding and abetting a Controlled Substances Act violation.  Id. at 

123–27.  The court reasoned that the evidence did not show the proper mens rea, 

namely, “shar[ing] the same intent as their customers to violate the CSA and willfully 

associat[ing] themselves with their customers’ criminal ventures.”  Id. at 126.  But the 

bankruptcy court went on to examine whether Debtors could be found guilty of violating 

21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7).  See id. at 127–32.  As described in more detail below, this 

statute criminalizes selling goods with knowledge that they will be used to manufacture 

controlled substances. 

No party had raised § 843(a)(7) as a potential basis for criminal liability.  

Regardless, the bankruptcy court found “ample evidence” that Debtors—referred to 

collectively—knew they were selling products that their customers would use to grow 

marijuana, which would be a violation of the statute.  Id. at 129.  Accordingly, the court 

agreed with Inniss that cause existed to dismiss Debtors’ bankruptcy proceedings. 

The bankruptcy court then asked whether Debtors could change their business 

model “to sever all ties to their marijuana customers,” and thereby avoid dismissal.  Id. 

at 132.  The court found that sales to marijuana growers were such an important part of 

Debtors’ business that it was “inconceivable” Debtors could “still operate profitably” 

without selling to those customers.  Id.  Thus, “[t]o prevent this Court from violating its 

oath to uphold federal law, under the specific facts of this case, the Court sees no 

practical alternative to dismissal.”  Id. 

Finally, the bankruptcy court concluded by showing its full understanding of the 

real-world consequences of its ruling: 

The result in this case may be viewed by many as 
inequitable.  The Debtors are insolvent, and their business 
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could benefit significantly from reorganization under the 
Bankruptcy Code.  The Debtors likely did not seek 
bankruptcy relief in bad faith on a subjective standard.  But 
for the marijuana issue, this would be a relatively run-of-the-
mill Chapter 11 proceeding.  As stated, even following those 
courts which have crafted alternatives to dismissal when 
debtors were violating the CSA would produce no practical 
or efficient alternative to dismissal in this case.  At bottom, if 
the result in this case is unjust, Congress alone has power to 
legislate a solution. 

Ironically, if Inniss, as the party arguing Debtors are violating 
federal law, wrests control of the Debtors back from Byrd in 
the [Larimer County lawsuit], he will almost certainly 
continue, and perhaps expand, the Debtors’ ongoing 
marijuana-related operations.  This irony is not lost on the 
Court but provides no legal basis for an alternate outcome.  
The Court casts no aspersions upon the Debtors or their 
businesses.  The result in this case is dictated by federal 
law, which this Court is bound to enforce. 

Id. at 133. 

C. Motion to Stay Pending Appeal 

Debtors immediately appealed to this Court and moved to stay the bankruptcy 

court’s judgment pending appeal.  (ECF No. 9.)  Among Debtors’ arguments was that 

the bankruptcy court improperly imputed the activities of Way to Grow to the other two 

Debtors, which was particularly problematic as to Pure Agro because it is a holding 

company that does not sell anything, so it arguably could not violate § 843(a)(7).  (Id. 

¶¶ 19–21.) 

The Court denied the motion to stay pending appeal, for various reasons.  (ECF 

No. 20.)  As to Debtors’ argument that the bankruptcy court erred by not distinguishing 

between Debtors for purposes of § 843(a)(7), the Court held that Debtors were not likely 

to succeed on the merits of this argument because nothing in the record showed that 

they argued to the bankruptcy court that the evidence was insufficient as to any 
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particular one of them.  (Id. at 6–7.)  Moreover, Debtors had not argued that the 

bankruptcy court’s alleged error could be reviewed under the plain error doctrine.  (Id. 

at 7.) 

The parties then proceeded to merits briefing, and the dispute is now ripe for a 

final disposition. 

III.  ANALYSIS 

As aptly stated by the bankruptcy court, there are many potential disputes here, 

but “the main event” in this lawsuit is threefold: (i) “Debtors’ connections to the 

marijuana industry,” (ii) whether “those connections constitute continuing violations of 

federal law,” and (iii) whether that restricts a bankruptcy court’s ability to provide relief to 

Debtors under the Bankruptcy Code.  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 116.  The Court will first 

address the broader questions about the availability of bankruptcy protection to 

businesses that depend on the marijuana industry, and then address whether Debtors 

run such businesses. 

A. Bankruptcy Courts’ Authority to Dismiss a Chapter 11 Proceeding Where 
the Debtor’s Business Violates Federal Law 

1. Federal Crimes Related to Marijuana 

The Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq., declares marijuana to 

be a Schedule I controlled substance.  See 21 U.S.C. § 812, Schedule I(c)(10).  It is a 

federal crime “to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to 

manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance.”  Id. § 841(a)(1).  It is also 

a federal crime “to manufacture, distribute, export, or import . . . any equipment, 

chemical, product, or material which may be used to manufacture a controlled 

substance or listed chemical, knowing, intending, or having reasonable cause to 
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believe, that it will be used to manufacture a controlled substance.”  Id. § 843(a)(7). 

Finally, a party can be liable for aiding and abetting any federal crime.  See 

18 U.S.C. § 2(a) (“Whoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, 

abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a 

principal.”).  Aiding and abetting requires proof that (i) someone else committed the 

underlying crime and (ii) the alleged aider/abettor “willfully associate[d] himself with the 

criminal venture and [sought] to make the venture succeed through some action of his 

own.”  United States v. Leos-Quijada, 107 F.3d 786, 794 (10th Cir. 1997); see also 

Tenth Circuit Criminal Pattern Jury Instructions § 2.06 (2011 ed., Feb. 2018 update), 

available at https://www.ca10.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/clerk/ 

Jury%20Instructions%20Update%202018.pdf (last accessed Sept. 16, 2019). 

2. Dismissal for Cause (11 U.S.C. § 1112(b)) 

Based on the evidence developed through the evidentiary hearing, the 

bankruptcy court concluded that most of Debtors’ business comprised, and would 

continue to comprise, selling supplies to marijuana growers while knowing that the 

supplies would be used to grow marijuana.  In other words, the bankruptcy court found 

that the Debtors’ primary business was a violation of 21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7). 

In this light, the bankruptcy court held that there was “cause to dismiss this 

bankruptcy case under 11 U.S.C. § 1112(b).”  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 132.  In 

relevant part, the statute cited by the bankruptcy court reads as follows: 

[O]n request of a party in interest, and after notice and a 
hearing, the court shall convert a case under this chapter to 
a case under chapter 7 or dismiss a case under this chapter, 
whichever is in the best interests of creditors and the estate, 
for cause unless the court determines that the appointment 
under section 1104(a) of a trustee or an examiner is in the 
best interests of creditors and the estate. 
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11 U.S.C. § 1112(b)(1).2 

The first question, then, is whether “cause” exists under this statute when the 

debtor runs a business dedicated to servicing the marijuana industry.  If the answer is 

“no,” the Court need not address Debtors’ arguments about the application of this 

principle to them under the facts of this case.  For the reasons explained below, 

however, the Court finds that the answer is “yes.” 

Congress provided a list of circumstances that count as “cause” to dismiss a 

Chapter 11 proceeding.  See id. § 1112(b)(4).  It says nothing about reorganization 

plans that rely on violations of federal law.  However, Congress prefaced this list as 

follows: “For purposes of [§ 1112(b)], the term ‘cause’ includes . . . .”  Id.  The words 

“‘includes’ and ‘including’ are not limiting” when used in the Bankruptcy Code.  Id. 

§ 102(3).  Therefore, Congress’s list is not exclusive, as further confirmed by legislative 

history: “The list [in § 1112(b)(4)] is not exhaustive.  The court will be able to consider 

other factors as they arise, and to use its equitable powers to reach an appropriate 

result in individual cases.”  H.R. Rep. 95-595, 406, 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5963, 6362. 

In an oft-cited decision on bankruptcy law as it relates to marijuana-based 

businesses, Judge Howard R. Tallman of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 

District of Colorado held that a marijuana-based business intending to continue to 

operate as such cannot propose a Chapter 11 reorganization plan in good faith—and, in 

turn, the inability to propose a reorganization plan in good faith is “cause” to dismiss a 

                                            
2 No party makes any argument about the possibility of converting the jointly 

administered Chapter 11 cases to a Chapter 7 proceeding, nor the possibility of appointing a 
trustee or examiner.  Accordingly, like the parties, the Court will ignore these portions of § 
1112(b)(1).  For purposes of this dispute, the only relevant portion of § 1112(b)(1) is its 
authorization to “dismiss a case . . . for cause.” 
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Chapter 11 proceeding.  See In re Rent-Rite Super Kegs W. Ltd., 484 B.R. 799, 809 

(Bankr. D. Colo. 2012).  This Court agrees. 

The relevant statute is 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(3), which reads in relevant part, “The 

court shall confirm a plan only if * * * [t]he plan has been proposed in good faith.”  “[T]he 

test of good faith under § 1129(a)(3) focuses on whether a plan is likely to achieve its 

goals and whether those goals are consistent with the [Bankruptcy] Code’s purposes.”  

In re Paige, 685 F.3d 1160, 1179 (10th Cir. 2012). 

The Bankruptcy Code nowhere explicitly says that one of its purposes is to avoid 

facilitating commission of a federal crime.  One could therefore take a narrow view and 

conclude that the Bankruptcy Code is blind to the lawfulness of the debtor’s activities 

under a reorganization plan.  However, the Tenth Circuit has “not rule[d] out the 

possibility that a plan could be unconfirmable under § 1129(a)(3) because of the 

proponent’s . . . improper conduct.”  Id.  Moreover, the Bankruptcy Code does provide 

that the automatic stay does not extend to “proceeding[s] by a governmental unit . . . to 

enforce such governmental unit’s . . . police and regulatory power,” 11 U.S.C. 

§ 362(b)(4), and that a bankruptcy discharge cannot extend to “a fine, penalty, or 

forfeiture payable to and for the benefit of a governmental unit, and is not compensation 

for actual pecuniary loss,” id. § 523(a)(7).  In other words, the Code is not blind to 

criminal behavior.  Finally, it is frankly inconceivable that Congress could have ever 

intended that federal judicial officials could, in the course of adjudicating disputes under 

the Bankruptcy Code, approve a reorganization plan that relies on violations of federal 

criminal law. 

For all these reasons, the Court holds that, as long as marijuana remains a 
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Schedule I controlled substance, a Chapter 11 debtor cannot propose a good-faith 

reorganization plan that relies on knowingly profiting from the marijuana industry.  And, 

in turn, inability to propose a good-faith reorganization plan is cause for dismissal under 

11 U.S.C. § 1112(b)(1).3 

3. A Clarification Regarding § 1129(a)(3) 

For clarity, the Court notes the following about the requirement that a 

reorganization plan be proposed in good faith.  Section 1129(a)(3) states that “[t]he 

court shall confirm a plan only if * * * [t]he plan has been proposed in good faith,” but 

then goes on to add “and not by any means forbidden by law.”  Judge Tallman’s 

decision in Rent-Rite (i.e., that an inability to satisfy § 1129(a)(3) is cause for dismissal 

under § 1112(b)(1)) has recently been criticized by the Ninth Circuit in Garvin v. Cook 

Investments NW, SPNWY, LLC, 922 F.3d 1031, 1035 (9th Cir. 2019), based on—as it 

turns out—a mistaken perception that Judge Tallman was relying on the “means 

forbidden by law” clause, not the “good faith” clause. 

In Garvin, the bankruptcy court, over the trustee’s objection, confirmed a 

                                            
3 Some courts have held that lack of good faith is grounds for dismissal independent 

from a dismissal for “cause” under § 1112(b)(1).  See 7 Collier on Bankruptcy ¶ 1112.07[1] 
(Richard Levin & Henry J. Sommer eds., 16th ed.).  But, “[i]n general, the requirements of good 
faith and cause do overlap, and what is sufficient to demonstrate a lack of good faith is also 
probably sufficient to demonstrate cause.”  Id. ¶ 1112.07[5].  Accordingly, the Court need not 
explore whether its holding is justified independent of §§ 1112(b)(1) and 1129(a)(3). 

Furthermore, bankruptcy decisions throughout the country have explored other potential 
bases for holding that a bankruptcy court cannot grant relief to a marijuana-based business.  
See, e.g., Garvin, 922 F.3d at 1036 (suggesting that operating a marijuana-based business 
could be cause for dismissal as “gross mismanagement of the [bankruptcy] estate” under 11 
U.S.C. § 1112(b)(4)(B)); In re Olson, 2018 WL 989263, at *4–6 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. Feb. 5, 2018) 
(surveying various approaches); Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 120–23 (same).  The Court finds that 
inability to propose a good-faith reorganization plan provides cause to dismiss under 
§ 1112(b)(1), and so the Court need not express any opinion about alternative bases for 
dismissal. 
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reorganization plan that included a continuing lease to an entity growing marijuana.  Id. 

at 1033–34.  The trustee argued that the reorganization plan contained a “means 

forbidden by law,” as proscribed by § 1129(a)(3), but the Ninth Circuit said that the 

trustee was misreading the statute because it forbids only a “plan . . . proposed . . . by 

any means forbidden by law.”  Id. at 1035.  In other words, the Ninth Circuit emphasized 

that the statute focuses on the means of proposing the plan, not on the means of 

carrying it out. 

Having held as much, Garvin then characterized Rent-Rite as a decision that 

misreads the “means forbidden by law” clause, see id., but Garvin itself misunderstood 

Rent-Rite.  The entire relevant passage from Rent-Rite shows that Judge Tallman was 

not interpreting on the “means forbidden by law” clause, but only the “good faith” clause: 

Title 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(3) provides that a plan may only be 
confirmed if it is “proposed in good faith and not by any 
means forbidden by law.”  Because a significant portion of 
the Debtor’s income is derived from an illegal activity, 
§ 1129(a)(3) forecloses any possibility of this Debtor 
obtaining confirmation of a plan that relies in any part on 
income derived from a criminal activity.  This Debtor has no 
reasonable prospect of getting its plan confirmed.  Even if 
§ 1129 contained no such good faith requirement, under no 
circumstance can the Court place itself in the position of 
condoning the Debtor’s criminal activity by allowing it to 
utilize the shelter of the Bankruptcy Code while continuing its 
unlawful practice of leasing space to those who are engaged 
in the business of cultivating a Schedule I controlled 
substance. 

484 B.R. at 809 (footnote omitted; emphasis added). 

Likewise, this Court grounds its holding in § 1129(a)(3)’s requirement that a 

Chapter 11 plan is unconfirmable unless “proposed in good faith.”  This is what Inniss 

argued below.  (ECF No. 27-1 at 58.)  The Court need not and does not opine on what it 

means for a plan to be “proposed . . . not by any means forbidden by law.” 
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4. “Shock[ing to] the General Moral or Common Sense” 

Debtors argue that interpreting 21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7) to be a basis for lack of 

good faith under 11. U.S.C. § 1129(a)(3) “causes results that are ‘so gross as to shock 

the general moral or common sense.’”  (ECF No. 27 at 24 (citing Crooks v. Harrelson, 

28[2] U.S. 55, 60 (1930)).)  Debtors’ citation to Crooks is instructive but ultimately inapt. 

The defendant in Crooks sought to avoid the application of a tax statute.  282 

U.S. at 57–58.  The Supreme Court said that “[t]he meaning of the provision in question, 

considered by itself, does not seem to us to be doubtful.”  Id. at 58.  The defendant 

nonetheless argued that “the literal meaning of the statute . . . should be rejected as 

leading to absurd results, and a construction adopted in harmony with what is thought to 

be the spirit and purpose of the act in order to give effect to the intent of Congress.”  Id. 

at 59.  The defendant cited a case in which the Supreme Court appeared to have taken 

such an approach, and, in that context, the Supreme Court in Crooks said the following: 

[A] consideration of [the prior case] will disclose that the 
principle is to be applied to override the literal terms of a 
statute only under rare and exceptional circumstances.  The 
illustrative cases cited in [the prior case] demonstrate that, to 
justify a departure from the letter of the law upon that 
ground, the absurdity must be so gross as to shock the 
general moral or common sense.  And there must be 
something to make plain the intent of Congress that the 
letter of the statute is not to prevail. 

Id. at 60 (citation omitted). 

Following Crooks, then, the question is, first, whether 21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7), as 

applied to businesses such as Debtors’, leads to an “absurdity . . . so gross as to shock 

the general moral or common sense”; and second, whether there is “plain” evidence of 

“the intent of Congress that the letter of the statute is not to prevail.”  For context, the full 

text of § 843(a)(7) is as follows: 
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It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally 
* * * to manufacture, distribute, export, or import any three-
neck round-bottom flask, tableting machine, encapsulating 
machine, or gelatin capsule, or any equipment, chemical, 
product, or material which may be used to manufacture a 
controlled substance or listed chemical, knowing, intending, 
or having reasonable cause to believe, that it will be used to 
manufacture a controlled substance or listed chemical in 
violation of this subchapter or subchapter II or, in the case of 
an exportation, in violation of this subchapter or subchapter 
II or of the laws of the country to which it is exported[.] 

Turning to the first Crooks inquiry—shockingly gross absurdity—Debtors note 

that the bankruptcy court “did not point to any specific transaction in which [they] sold 

equipment to a customer.”  (ECF No. 27 at 25.)  Debtors seem to be saying § 843(a)(7) 

must be construed to require proof that the person who bought, e.g., hydroponic 

equipment, used it to grow marijuana.  Without such a requirement, Debtors say, 

section 843(a)(7) could serve to turn any business into a 
criminal with a single transaction.  If an individual walked into 
a Home Depot and the cashier had reasonable cause to 
believe the shovel would be used in a marijuana growing 
operation based on statements by the customer, by virtue of 
selling that individual a shovel, the Home Depot will have 
committed a criminal act.  The cashier, acting as an agent of 
the store, knew that he was distributing a shovel to the 
marijuana grower, and sold the shovel having reasonable 
cause to believe that it would be used grow marijuana.  The 
Home Depot would not even need to know the customer’s 
name, nor whether the shovel was actually used to grow 
marijuana. 

(Id. at 26.) 

It would be an absurd use of prosecutorial discretion to charge The Home Depot 

with a crime based on this fact pattern, but such fact patterns can be imagined under 

many criminal statutes.  The ability to imagine that a prosecutor with poor judgment 

might institute an absurd prosecution is not a basis to declare that the statute’s plain 

language must be disregarded.  The bankruptcy court had before it evidence that 
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Debtors derive from 65% to 95% of their business from marijuana growers.  (See Parts 

III.B & III.C, below.)  Notably, Debtors do not argue that it would be absurd to prosecute 

a business if it knows that 65% to 95% of its sales will go toward manufacturing a 

controlled substance. 

As for the second Crooks inquiry—evidence of Congress’s obviously contrary 

intent—Debtors offer nothing.  However, in a separate context that the Court will 

address below (Part III.A.5), Debtors argue that the statute’s specific mention of 

equipment such as a three-neck round-bottom flask, and its use of verbs such as 

“distribute” and “manufacture,” “denote[] Congress’[s] intent to target persons selling 

equipment, materials, and listed chemicals to methamphetamine manufacturers.”  (Id. 

at 28.)  Debtors say this is “supported by the legislative history,” but they cite none.  (Id.)  

In any event, to the extent this can be construed as a Crooks argument, the alleged 

focus on methamphetamine is not “something to make plain the intent of Congress that 

the letter of the statute is not to prevail.”  282 U.S. at 60. 

Finally, the mens rea of § 843(a)(7) is “knowing, intending, or having reasonable 

cause to believe, that [the equipment, chemical, product, or material in question] will be 

used to manufacture a controlled substance.”  The Tenth Circuit has construed identical 

language in the statute’s immediately preceding paragraph, 21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(6), 

which makes it a crime 

to possess any three-neck round-bottom flask, tableting 
machine, encapsulating machine, or gelatin capsule, or any 
equipment, chemical, product, or material which may be 
used to manufacture a controlled substance or listed 
chemical, knowing, intending, or having reasonable cause to 
believe, that it will be used to manufacture a controlled 
substance or listed chemical in violation of this subchapter or 
subchapter II. 
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In that context, the Tenth Circuit held that all three mental states—knowing, intending, 

or having reasonable cause to believe—are subjective, with “reasonable cause to 

believe” meaning something “akin to actual knowledge.”  United States v. Truong, 425 

F.3d 1282, 1289 (10th Cir. 2005) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

As the bankruptcy court recognized, there is no reason to believe that the Tenth 

Circuit’s interpretation of § 843(a)(6) would not also apply to § 843(a)(7).  See Way to 

Grow, 597 B.R. at 127 & n.137.  In this light, the Court finds nothing “shock[ing to] the 

general moral or common sense,” Crooks, 282 U.S. at 60, that an individual or business 

could be prosecuted for selling an item, knowing it will be used to commit a criminal 

act—whether or not the criminal act happened. 

The lack of “moral shock” is fairly obvious in other contexts.  For example, it is 

unlawful for any person to sell or otherwise dispose of any 
firearm or ammunition to any person knowing or having 
reasonable cause to believe that such person * * * is subject 
to a court order that restrains such person from harassing, 
stalking, or threatening an intimate partner of such person or 
child of such intimate partner or person, or engaging in other 
conduct that would place an intimate partner in reasonable 
fear of bodily injury to the partner or child. 

18 U.S.C. § 922(d)(8).  The legitimate interest in prohibiting (and therefore dissuading) 

the mere sale or transfer of firearms in such circumstances is beyond question, without 

any need to wait and see if the firearm gets used. 

The difference in this case, of course, is that a majority of voters in Colorado (and 

several other states) have decided that one among many Schedule I controlled 

substances—marijuana—poses no threat worthy of criminal prohibition.  Reasonable 

minds may differ on that question, but the fact that the federal government can enforce 

the Controlled Substances Act in a manner that many Coloradans would disagree with 
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does not “shock the general moral or common sense.”  Crooks, 282 U.S. at 60. 

5. Vagueness 

Debtors further argue that “[s]ection 843(a)(7) is so vague as to fail to put a 

person of ordinary intelligence on notice that his otherwise lawful conduct, such as 

selling gardening supplies, is illegal.”  (ECF No. 27 at 28.)  See also Johnson v. United 

States, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2556 (2015) (“Our cases establish that the Government 

violates [the Fifth Amendment due process clause] by taking away someone’s life, 

liberty, or property under a criminal law so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair 

notice of the conduct it punishes . . . .”).  In this context, Debtors note that some of the 

statute’s language appears directed at methamphetamine manufacture.  (ECF No. 27 

at 28.)4 

The Court disagrees that § 843(a)(7) is void for vagueness.  Its language indeed 

mentions specific and unique items, but it also encompasses “any equipment, chemical, 

product, or material which may be used to manufacture a controlled substance or listed 

chemical, knowing, intending, or having reasonable cause to believe, that it will be used 

to manufacture a controlled substance or listed chemical” (emphasis added).  This fairly 

provides notice to the ordinary person.  To the extent “reasonable cause to believe” 

might pose a problem (and the Court expresses no opinion about that), the Tenth 

Circuit’s “akin to actual knowledge” gloss overcomes it.  Truong, 425 F.3d at 1289.  

Accordingly, Debtors’ vagueness argument fails. 

                                            
4 Debtors further note that hydroponic equipment is not on a Drug Enforcement 

Administration list of products and materials specifically associated with clandestine drug 
manufacturing.  (Id.)  It is not clear what relevance this has to whether § 843(a)(7) is too vague 
to be understood by the ordinary person. 
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6. Proof of Specific Transactions 

Finally, Debtors argue that a § 843(a)(7) violation can only be proven through 

“evidence of specific transactions” in which the defendant knew that the item being sold 

would be used to manufacture a controlled substance.  (ECF No. 27 at 29–36.)  The 

bankruptcy court cited no such evidence, but this Court disagrees with Debtors that 

such evidence was required under the circumstances. 

The question before the bankruptcy court was whether Debtors’ business model 

and profitability relied on actions that could be prosecuted as a violation of § 843(a)(7).  

In other words, the bankruptcy court’s inquiry was ultimately prospective, not 

retrospective.  That is why the bankruptcy court first asked whether Debtors’ business 

model necessarily placed it in a position of violating federal law, see Way to Grow, 597 

B.R. at 123–32, and then asked whether bankruptcy proceedings could nonetheless be 

saved by Debtors “sever[ing] all ties to their marijuana customers,” id. at 132.  Unlike a 

prosecutor, the bankruptcy court needed no evidence of specific criminal transactions to 

sustain its findings on these matters. 

B. Evidence as to Each Debtor 

1. Bankruptcy Court’s Treatment of “Debtors” as a Group 

Debtors argue that, even if the bankruptcy court correctly found that § 843(a)(7) 

might be a basis for cause to dismiss bankruptcy proceedings, the bankruptcy court 

erroneously lumped all three Debtors together when the evidence almost exclusively 

focused on Way to Grow’s activities.  Thus, say Debtors, at least Pure Agro’s and 

Green Door’s bankruptcy petitions should not have been dismissed because the 
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evidence that they are violating § 843(a)(7) is insufficient.  (ECF No. 27 at 18–24.)5 

As noted above (Part II.C), the Court rejected this argument as a basis to grant a 

stay pending appeal because nothing in the record showed that Debtors had argued 

below for separate treatment.  In their opening merits brief, Debtors attempt to explain 

this by arguing that the focus of the evidentiary hearing, as they saw it, was aiding and 

abetting under 18 U.S.C. § 2, while 21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7) was raised for the first time by 

the bankruptcy court in its dismissal order.  (ECF No. 27 at 18.)   

Had the Debtors been provided with notice that Inniss 
intended to argue that section 843(a)(7) applied, each 
Debtor could have presented additional legal argument 
regarding how and why section 843(a)(7) does not apply.  
The Debtors could also have presented evidence including 
testimony from customers about the use to which the 
equipment and materials purchased at [Way to Grow] stores 
was put, the use of hydroponic equipment, and the legal 
crops grown by customers.  The Debtors could also have 
presented additional evidence to further emphasize the fact 
that Pure [Agro] is a holding company and does not 
distribute any equipment. 

(Id. at 18.) 

As presented in the opening brief, this is still not an argument for plain error 

review, even though the Court previously called Debtors out for failing to argue as 

much.  (See ECF No. 20 at 7.)  Debtors’ first mention of plain error review comes in 

their reply brief (ECF No. 32 at 12–14), and therefore could be deemed forfeited. 

In sum, Debtors are treading on thin ice.  Debtors refused to argue for plain error 

until it was too late for Inniss to respond.  Moreover, the Court is not convinced that 

Debtors would have tailored their evidentiary presentations any differently had they 

                                            
5 Save for their argument that there must be evidence of specific transactions, which the 

Court has rejected immediately above, Debtors do not argue that the evidence against Way to 
Grow was insufficient. 
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known that § 843(a)(7) would be at issue, not just aiding and abetting.  The aiding and 

abetting accusation gave Debtors every incentive to present all the same evidence they 

now say they were precluded from presenting.  And, from the Court’s review of the 

hearing transcripts, the parties continually focused on the questions of what Debtors sell 

and what they know about how their customers use their products.  These are the same 

questions the parties would have explored if § 843(a)(7) had been part of their 

preparations. 

However, viewed generously, the Court can see how looking at the case through 

an aiding and abetting lens might have caused Pure Agro to think less about its 

separateness from its subsidiaries than it might have if it had known ahead of time that 

the bankruptcy court would be considering § 843(a)(7), which requires manufacturing, 

distributing, exporting, or importing tangible items—activities that a holding company 

like Pure Agro usually does not perform.  From that perspective, there is slightly more 

merit to Debtors’ argument, at least as applied to Pure Agro, although there is still the 

question of whether Debtors forfeited their opportunity to argue for plain error. 

Ultimately, the Court finds that it need not decide whether the bankruptcy court 

erred by failing to discuss the three Debtors separately, nor whether Debtors forfeited 

that argument.  The Court can affirm on any basis supported by the record.  See SEC v. 

Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 88 (1943) (“[I]n reviewing the decision of a lower court, it 

must be affirmed if the result is correct although the lower court relied upon a wrong 

ground or gave a wrong reason.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).  There is ample 

basis in the record that Way to Grow’s and Green Door’s business models depend on 

activities that could be prosecuted under § 843(a)(7), and there is likewise ample 
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evidence that Pure Agro involves itself in Way to Grow’s and Green Door’s business in 

a manner that could subject it to prosecution for aiding and abetting their criminal 

activities. 

2. Way to Grow 

At least as to Way to Grow, Debtors do not challenge the bankruptcy court’s 

conclusion that there was “ample evidence” that, in the language of § 843(a)(7), Way to 

Grow at least had “‘reasonable cause to believe’ the equipment [it] sell[s] to at least 

some of [its] customers will be used to manufacture marijuana.”  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. 

at 129.  And the evidence before the bankruptcy court was otherwise overwhelming.  

For example: 

• Inniss testified that: (i) he built up Way to Grow to service the marijuana 

industry; (ii) the “whole thesis” of Pure Agro’s acquisition of Way to Grow 

“was to combine Byrd’s California marijuana-related operations with [Way 

to Grow’s] operations in Colorado”; (iii) Way to Grow sells products that 

“would be cost-prohibitive for use in cultivating any crop except marijuana, 

because marijuana is the highest yielding cash crop which can be grown”; 

(iv) Way to Grow “sell[s] so-called ‘bubble bags’ which are specifically 

used to make ‘water hash,’ a concentrated marijuana derivative”; and 

(v) he knew the real names of customers that used aliases when buying 

products from Way to Grow, and he further knew that those customers 

were dispensaries and grow operations.  Id. at 129–30. 

• Since at least 2016, Way to Grow participated in the Cannabis Cup, “a 

cannabis industry trade show and the world’s biggest marijuana grow 
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competition.”  Id. at 130. 

• At the Cannabis Cup and similar events, Way to Grow has distributed self-

branded swag such as “lighters and rolling papers,” and has contributed 

prize money to be awarded to the winner of the grow-off competition.  Id. 

• The manager of Way to Grow’s Boulder store testified that: (i) “he, and all 

of his co-workers, were themselves marijuana growers who bought 

supplies from [Way to Grow] before becoming employees”; (ii) “[mo]st of 

[his] interactions with customers have been about cannabis”; (iii) Way to 

Grow “choose[s] products based on favorability of use in marijuana 

cultivation”; (iv) “the ‘trim bags’ and ‘bubble bags’ sold by [Way to Grow] 

are specifically intended for use with cannabis”; (v) “[a]s recently as 

August 2018, [Way to Grow] engaged in cross-promotions with 

dispensaries at local grow-offs”; and (vi) “as much as 95% of customers in 

his store are using [its] products to grow marijuana.”  Id. 

• The manager of Way to Grow’s Fort Collins store testified that: 

(i) “‘everybody just assumes’ customers talking generally about help with 

plants are talking about marijuana plants”; (ii) Way to Grow has a 

reputation for being an expert in cannabis growing; (iii) he has visited 

customers’ cannabis growing facilities; (iv) “[a] list of approved products 

for use in cannabis cultivation is made available in the store”; 

(v) “[c]ustomers sometimes bring marijuana plants, or, more commonly, 

photographs of marijuana grow operations, to [Way to Grow’s] stores, and 

[its] employees ‘typically’ offer products to those customers based on 
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those photographs”; and (vi) “the ‘vast majority’ of [Way to Grow’s] 

customers” grow cannabis.  Id. 

• In an e-mail dated June 28, 2018 (three days after Inniss filed his motion 

to dismiss), Way to Grow’s vice president of operations instructed store 

managers to remove “anything ‘MJ related in your stores’” and “to ‘not 

discuss MJ directly with any customers [or] allow customers to bring 

anything plant related into your stores.’”  Id. at 131. 

Accordingly, the bankruptcy court did not err, much less clearly err, in finding as 

a matter of fact that Way to Grow “know[s] . .  that it [is selling products that] will be 

used to manufacture a controlled substance.”  21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7). 

3. Green Door 

The evidence specifically as to Green Door was not as fully developed.  

However, the bankruptcy court credited Inniss’s testimony that Green Door—described 

as “Byrd’s California marijuana-related operations”—was operating the same type of 

business as Way to Grow.  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 129.  Moreover, Debtors’ opening 

merits brief before this Court admits that Green Door “operated in a similar manner” to 

Way to Grow.  (ECF No. 27 at 10.)  Accordingly, given the evidence before the 

bankruptcy court about Way to Grow and the evidence that Green Door was simply a 

California-based iteration of the same type of business, the bankruptcy court did not 

clearly err in finding as a matter of fact that Green Door “know[s] . .  that it [is selling 

products that] will be used to manufacture a controlled substance.”  21 U.S.C. 

§ 843(a)(7). 

4. Pure Agro 

Pure Agro is a holding company that owns Way to Grow, Green Door, and 
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another (non-debtor) entity called Crop Supply.  Although Inniss points to hearing 

testimony in which Byrd speaks of Pure Agro “sell[ing]” things such as dirt and 

hydroponic gardening supplies (see ECF No. 31 at 26), there appears to be no serious 

dispute that Byrd was speaking loosely and that Pure Agro, of itself, sells nothing.  But 

that does not mean that Pure Agro is insulated from potential prosecution.  Again, 

“Whoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, 

commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a principal.”  

18 U.S.C. § 2(a).  Liability requires an underlying crime (supplied here by the subsidiary 

Debtors’ actions) and “willfully associat[ing] [oneself] with the criminal venture and 

seek[ing] to make the venture succeed through some action of [one’s] own.”  Leos-

Quijada, 107 F.3d at 794. 

The evidence before the bankruptcy court was enough to support a finding that 

Pure Agro aids and abets its subsidiaries’ violations of federal law.  For example: 

• Inniss testified that Pure Agro acquired Way to Grow to increase Pure 

Agro’s dominance in the cannabis industry.  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. 

at 129. 

• Pure Agro’s website quotes Byrd as follows: “We are the picks and 

shovels play for what we’re calling the Green Rush.”6  (ECF No. 31-1 

at 10.) 

• Pure Agro’s website approvingly quotes a BusinessWire characterization 

                                            
6 As aptly explained by Investopedia, “pick and shovel play” is a metaphor derived from 

the persons who sold equipment to gold diggers during the California gold rush.  It is “an 
investment strategy that invests in the underlying technology needed to produce a good or 
service instead of in the final output.  It is a way to invest in an industry without having to endure 
the risks of the market for the final product.”  Investopedia, “Pick-And-Shovel Play,” at 
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/pick-and-shovel-play.asp (last accessed Sept. 16, 2019). 

Case 1:18-cv-03245-WJM-STV   Document 39   Filed 09/18/19   USDC Colorado   Page 24 of 29



25 

of the Way to Grow acquisition as follows: “With the merger of Way to 

Grow completed in January 2016, PureAgro is now the leading one-stop 

solution for indoor plant, produce and cannabis growers in Colorado and 

California.”  (Id. at 9; see also ECF No. 23-4 at 372 (Byrd’s endorsement 

of this quote as “a true statement”).) 

• Pure Agro’s website quotes a characterization of itself published in the 

Cannabis Business Times as a “pioneer[] of the hydroponics and indoor 

agriculture industry for the past 20 years.”  (ECF No. 31-1 at 12.) 

• Pure Agro issued a press release on November 1, 2016, datelined “Los 

Angeles & Fort Collins, Colo.”  The press release describes Way to Grow 

and Crop Supply—the latter of which was “[s]pun out of Way to Grow’s 

operations” as a “wholesale operating division, selling directly and 

exclusively to large commercial growers.”  The press release quotes Byrd 

as saying, “Our current focus and primary growth initiatives are aligned 

with serving the fast-growing legal cannabis industry.”  The press release 

goes on to describe the business opportunity in light of the many states 

legalizing cannabis.  (Id. at 25–27.) 

• At the evidentiary hearing, Byrd confirmed his knowledge that certain 

dispensaries and cannabis growers were customers of Pure Agro’s 

subsidiaries.  (ECF No. 23-4 at 418–19.) 

• Byrd testified that Crop Supply was losing money but “it’s all a rollup so we 

can have a profit on one sub entity and a loss on another.”  (Id. at 361–

62.)  Elaborating, John Thompson, Pure Agro’s head of finance, testified 
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that Pure Agro, Crop Supply, and Way to Grow shared a single bank 

account that allowed for transfers between the companies.  (Id. at 497.) 

Finally, the Court notes that Debtors’ failure to argue for distinct treatment in the 

bankruptcy court is further evidence that they view themselves as distinct on paper but 

not in purpose. 

In sum, Pure Agro “willfully associat[es] [itself] with the criminal venture and 

seek[s] to make the venture succeed through some action of [its] own.”  Leos-Quijada, 

107 F.3d at 794.  Indeed, Pure Agro’s purpose is to support its subsidiaries in their 

efforts to sell to customers whom the subsidiaries and Pure Agro know to be using the 

products to grow marijuana.  For this reason, the bankruptcy court’s decision as to Pure 

Agro is affirmed. 

C. Ability to Reorganize 

The bankruptcy court heard testimony from one Way to Grow manager that 95% 

of his store’s customers were using Way to Grow’s products to grow marijuana, and 

from another store manager that the “vast majority” of his customers were doing 

likewise.  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 130.  The bankruptcy court heard testimony from 

Byrd that “this figure [was] closer to 65%.”  Id. at 130 n.154.  Weighing this evidence, 

the bankruptcy court concluded, “Whether marijuana-related customers account for 

65% or 95% of Debtors’ revenue, eliminating all such revenue would be devastating to 

the Debtors.  It is inconceivable Debtors could terminate any sales to known marijuana 

cultivators and still operate profitably.”  Id. at 132. 

Debtors challenge this finding.  Debtors’ first argue that the bankruptcy court 

relied mostly on evidence from Way to Grow managers (and not witnesses from Pure 

Agro or Green Door) about the centrality of marijuana to Way to Grow’s business.  (Id. 
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at 36.)  But the evidence as a whole shows that all three Debtors developed their 

business specifically to service marijuana growers and, tellingly, Debtors failed to 

introduce any evidence to the contrary during the four-day hearing.  The bankruptcy 

court did not clearly err in applying its finding to all three Debtors. 

Debtors next argue that the store managers merely offered “guesses” of how 

many customers used store products to grow marijuana, and that “the managers 

acknowledged that this conclusion was speculation, and that they had no personal 

knowledge of what their customers were growing.”  (ECF No. 27 at 36–37.)  Debtors 

cite nothing in the record to support these characterizations of the managers’ testimony, 

and they are otherwise inconsistent with the testimony summarized by the bankruptcy 

court that the managers knew their stores were selling products for use by marijuana 

growers to grow marijuana.  See Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 130.  Thus, the bankruptcy 

court did not clearly err in relying on the managers’ estimates. 

Debtors further argue that the bankruptcy court inappropriately fixated on 

Debtors’ sales of hydroponic equipment, whereas “soil, containers, and nutrients were 

and are the principal items sold in terms of product volume and revenue.”  (ECF No. 27 

at 37.)  Debtors request that the case be remanded for the bankruptcy court to consider 

the “actual mix of products” sold.  (Id.) 

It is true that, at one point, the bankruptcy court stated, “Debtors have already 

acquired a venerable reputation for expertise in hydroponic marijuana growing, and it is 

difficult to imagine how Debtors could prevent customers from continuing to patronize 

Debtors’ stores because of this reputation.”  Way to Grow, 597 B.R. at 132.  But this 

was part of the bankruptcy court’s alternative reason for finding no reasonable prospect 
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of reorganization, i.e., that it would be difficult to stop marijuana growers from returning 

to Debtors’ stores.  The Court need not opine on this alternative reason because the 

primary reason—the percentage of customers that seek out Debtors for marijuana-

growing supplies—is enough by itself to support the bankruptcy court’s finding. 

Finally, Debtors say that the bankruptcy court “never made any determination as 

to whether any customer was growing” a cannabis plant for purposes of human 

consumption, as compared to the now-legal purpose of producing hemp.  (ECF No. 27 

at 38.)  This argument relies on the Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 

115-334, which the President signed into law on December 20, 2018—shortly after 

Appellants filed this appeal.  Among many other changes, this law lifted the federal ban 

on commercial and industrial hemp production and removed hemp from Schedule I so 

long as it contains no more than 0.3% of THC (the active ingredient in marijuana) by dry 

weight.  See id. §§ 10113, 12619.  Debtors say that “[t]he legalization of hemp means 

that [they] could reorganize based upon the hemp market.”  (ECF No. 27 at 39.) 

Debtors cite nothing in the record to support this contention.  Apparently this 

argument was never advanced to the bankruptcy court.  This Court does not opine on 

whether the timing of the Agriculture Improvement Act’s passage excuses Debtors’ 

failure to develop a proper record or to advance the argument.  The Court only holds 

that the bankruptcy court did not err, much less clearly err, by failing to address this 

argument, which was never presented to it and could not have been a potential basis for 

relief until after the bankruptcy court issued its decision. 

IV.  CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Court ORDERS as follows: 
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1. The judgment of the bankruptcy court is AFFIRMED; 

2. The Clerk shall enter judgment in favor of Appellee and against Appellants, and 

shall terminate this case; and 

3. Appellee shall have his costs incurred in this Court, if any, upon compliance with 

D.C.COLO.LCivR 54.1. 

 
Dated this 18th day of September, 2019. 

BY THE COURT: 
 

 
 
______________________ 
William J. Martinez 
United States District Judge 
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▪ Current Cannabis Market

▪ Legal State of Cannabis

▪ Controlled Substances Act and 2018 Farm Bill

▪ Recent Cannabis Bankruptcy Cases

▪ Strategies to Remain in Bankruptcy

▪ Hypothetical Rights of a Cannabis Creditor in Bankruptcy







▪ 34 States – Medical or Recreational

▪ 11 States – Recreational / “Adult”
▪ Alaska

▪ California

▪ Colorado

▪ Illinois (January 1, 2020)

▪ Maine

▪ Massachusetts

▪ Michigan

▪ Oregon

▪ Nevada 

▪ Vermont 

▪ Washington





▪ TerrAscend Acquires California-based The Apothecarium for $118 Million
▪ $73.7 million in cash plus $44.7 million in stock.

▪ 3 retail shops in California and a vertically integrated operation in Nevada.

▪ Altria Invests $1.8 Billion in Cronos Group
▪ U.S. tobacco giant invested $1.8 billion Ontario-based cannabis producer Cronos Group.

▪ Gotham Green Partners to Invest $250 Million in MedMen
▪ Private equity fund Gotham Green Partners will invest up to $250 million in MedMen, a California-based multistate 

marijuana operator, in the form of a convertible credit facility.

▪ BlackRock Invests $11 Million in Curaleaf
▪ One of the world’s largest money managers disclosed an $11 million investment in Curaleaf Holdings, a Massachusetts-

based medical cannabis company.

▪ Pax Labs Raises $420 Million for Post-Money Valuation of $1.7 Billion (April 2019)
▪ Pax Labs is a SF-based electronic vaporizer company.

▪ Cresco Labs to Acquire Original House for $823 Million
▪ Cresco, a Chicago-based vertically integrated cannabis company that trades on the Canadian Securities Exchange, agreed 

to acquire Origin House, a Canadian firm that delivers more than 50 brands to 500+ dispensaries in California, for $823 
million in an all-stock deal.



▪ CBD Market: $16 billion by 2025 accordingly to Cowen & Co. 

▪ $22 billion by 2022, according to the Brightfield Group.

▪ Hemp Industry Daily estimates market for hemp-derived CBD products to rise from $900M-$1.1B in 
2019 to $6.1B to $7.5B in 2023.

▪ Walgreens will begin selling CBD topicals in 1,500 stores in nine states. 

▪ CVS will begin selling hemp lotions and transdermal patches in 800 stores.

▪ In April 2019, Rite Aid began selling CBD topicals in more than 200 stores.

▪ Hemp-based CBD remains illegal under current FDA regulations (i.e., no consumption).



▪ Consumers in Washington and Oregon can buy an ounce of cannabis for $35.

▪ Oregon has $2 grams and $28 ounces.

▪ Oregon 2019 Recreational Marijuana Supply and Demand Legislative Report:

▪ As of January 1, 2019, the recreational market has 6.5 years’ worth of supply.

▪ This report finds that supply in the recreational market is twice the level of current demand. 

▪ Open retail licensing in Washington creates intense competition.

▪ Jefferson County – 7 dispensaries for 30,000 residents

▪ Consensus is that oversupply – not a decline in demand – is causing downward price pressure.

▪ 95% of Oklahoma’s 4,982 cannabis business license applications have been approved.

▪ Population of Oklahoma is 4M (1 cannabis license for every 800 people).



▪ Federal Illegality = No Access to Normal Banking

▪ California Banking Act:
▪ California AG Xavier Becerra: “Not incorporating an $8.3 billion industry into our banking system is hurting our public safety and economy.”

▪ California state Senate voted 35-1 in favor of a bill that would allow banks and credit unions to accept cash deposits from cannabis retailers.  
The bill would allow banks to issue special checks to the retailers that could be used for purposes such as paying taxes or California-based 
vendors.

▪ Bill now moves to the California Assembly.

▪ SAFE Banking Act
▪ March 2019 – 493 banks and 140 credit unions actively servicing cannabis businesses. 

▪ Secure and Fair Enforcement (SAFE) Banking Act would permit marijuana-related businesses in states with existing regulatory structures 
to access the federal banking system (i.e., access to loans, lines of creditor, and other banking services).

▪ Bipartisan bill co-Sponsored by 172 members of congress and supported by:

▪ National Association of Attorneys General

▪ National Association of State Treasurers

▪ All 50 state banking associations

▪ 38 attorneys general support the SAFE Act

▪ 20 governors signed letter encouraging passage

▪ Bill cleared the House Financial Services Committee in March 2019 (bipartisan vote of 45 to 15)



▪ Assignments for the Benefit of Creditors

▪ License transfer issues.

▪ Loss of control.

▪ No quasi-judicial immunity

▪ Receiverships

▪ Generally available, but not without its issues.

▪ Loss of control.

▪ No stay of litigation.

▪ Washington has specific statute permitting receivers to sell cannabis assets.



▪ 28 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) – Cultivators / Dispensaries
▪ “. . . it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to manufacture, distribute, dispense, or 

possess with intent to manufacture, distribute or dispense, a controlled substance”

▪ 28 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7) – Ancillary Companies
▪ “It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to manufacture, distribute, export, or import 

any . . . equipment, chemical, product, or material which may be used to manufacture a controlled substance 
. . . knowing, intending, or having reasonable cause to believe, that it will be used to manufacture a 
controlled substance . . .”

▪ 21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(1) – Landlords
▪ “. . . it shall be unlawful to knowingly open, lease, rent, use, or maintain any place, whether permanently or 

temporarily, for the purpose of manufacturing, distributing, or using any controlled substance”

▪ 21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(2) – Management
▪ “. . . it shall be unlawful to manage or control any place, whether permanently or temporarily, either as an 

owner, lessee, agent, employee, occupant, or mortgagee, and knowingly and intentionally rent, lease, profit 
from, or make available for use, with or without compensation, the place for the purpose of unlawfully 
manufacturing, storing, distributing, or using a controlled substance”



▪ President Trump signed the Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018 (aka the 2018 Farm Bill) into law 
on December 20, 2018.

▪ Legalizes the cultivation and sale of hemp at the federal level.

▪ Hemp is defined as the Cannabis sativa L. plant and any part of the plant with a delta-9 THC 
concentration of not more than 0.3% by dry weight (similar to definition of “industrial hemp” in the 
2014 Farm Bill).

▪ Prior to the 2018 Farm Bill, hemp was a Schedule 1 controlled substance under the CSA.

▪ Until USDA establishes regulatory process for the 2020 growing season, only cultivation permitted 
by the 2014 Farm Bill (limited to research and government) is federally permitted.

▪ US Dept. of Agriculture is aiming to release interim regulations in August.

▪ Hemp seeds can be lawfully imported from other countries and the crop can be transported across 
state lines since it’s been federally de-scheduled.



▪ UST Letter to Chapter 7 and 13 Trustees – April 26, 2017:
▪ “In recent months, we have noticed an increase in the number of bankruptcy cases involving marijuana assets. This is to reiterate

and emphasize the importance of prompt notification to your United States Trustee whenever you uncover a marijuana asset in a
case assigned to you. Our goal is to ensure that trustees are not placed in the untenable position of violating federal law by
liquidating, receiving proceeds from, or in any way administering marijuana assets. In some cases, trustees move to dismiss or
object to a chapter 13 plan confirmation on grounds unrelated to the controlled substance. You should continue to file any motions
or objections you deem appropriate. It is the policy of the United States Trustee Program that United States Trustees shall
move to dismiss or object in all cases involving marijuana assets on grounds that such assets may not be administered under
the Bankruptcy Code even if trustees or other parties object on the same or different grounds.”

▪ WSJ reported that the UST began a concerted effort in 2017 to dismiss cannabis-related bankruptcy cases.
▪ “We simply will not allow the bankruptcy code to be used to evade federal law regardless of state statute.”

▪ Clifford J. White III, director of the U.S. Trustee program, speech 2017.

▪ UST took 88 marijuana-enforcement actions from 2010 through 2018, mostly objections and motions to dismiss.
▪ More than half (53) occurred in 2017 and 2018.

▪ Majority (29) involved chapter 13.

▪ More than 60,000 marijuana industry employees in California.

▪ More than 211,000 people employed in cannabis industry.



▪ In re: Holly Christine Adair, Case No. 19-30181 (Bankr. D. Ore. 2019)
▪ Background:

▪ Chapter 13 case in Oregon.

▪ 59 year old woman worked for GreenForce Staffing, a cannabis industry staffing agency.

▪ Debtor sought chapter 13 protection weeks after her husband of 35 years died suddenly of a blood clot in his lungs.

▪ Debtor learned the couple had fallen behind on their mortgage payments while her husband was in the hospital and 
commenced a chapter 13 case to avoid foreclosure.

▪ UST Objection to Confirmation and Motion to Dismiss:

▪ A “chapter 13 bankruptcy plan that is funded through marijuana income cannot be confirmed” and necessarily not 
proposed in good faith under 11 U.S.C. § 1325.

▪ Proposed plan could expose chapter 13 trustee to liability.

▪ “Cause” exists to dismiss because a chapter 7 liquidation would impermissibly facilitate a violation of federal law 
because it would permit the Debtor to obtain bankruptcy relief while continue to engage in an ongoing criminal 
enterprise.

▪ Outcome:

▪ Debtor voluntarily dismissed the case.



▪ In re Rent-Rite Super Kegs West Ltd., 484 B.R. 799 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2012)
▪ Chapter 11 debtor derived 25% of its revenue from leasing warehouse space to a cannabis business.  Court 

believed this put the secured creditor’s collateral at risk of forfeiture and constituted gross mismanagement 
and unclean hands.

▪ Debtor subsequently stipulated to stay relief for the secured creditor and filed a motion to reconsider, which 
was granted.

▪ In re Arenas, 535 B.R. 845 (B.A.P. 10th Cir. 2015)
▪ Court dismissed a chapter 7 case of debtor that operated a marijuana grow facility because the chapter 7 

trustee cannot take control of the property without himself violating 21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(2))

▪ “The impossibility of lawfully administering the Debtors’ bankruptcy estate under chapter 7 constitutes 
cause for dismissal of the Debtors’ case under 11 U.S.C. § 707(a).”

▪ In re Medpoint Management LLC, 528 B.R. 178 (Bankr. D. Ariz. 2015)
▪ Court dismissed an involuntary chapter 7 case against a medical marijuana business. 

▪ Petitioning creditors not eligible to file involuntary petition because of in pari delicto – creditors knew the 
debtor was in the marijuana business and voluntarily chose to engage in the business.



▪ In re Way to Grow, Inc., et al., 597 B.R. 111 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2018)
▪ Court dismissed chapter 11 cases of family of companies that provide equipment for indoor hydroponic and gardening-related 

supplies through their various retail outlets. 

▪ Court found that the company is violating 21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7), which makes it a federal crime to distribute “equipment, chemical, 
product or material which may be used to manufacture a controlled substance . . . knowing, intending, or having reasonable cause to 
believe, that it will be used to manufacture a controlled substance . . . .” 

▪ In re Basrah Custom Design, Inc., 600 B.R. 368 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2019)
▪ Court dismissed the chapter 11 case of a custom cabinet manufacturer, which occupies two conjoined buildings.  The buildings are

owned by an affiliate of the Debtor’s principal, which entered into a lease with a purchase option with a dispensary.

▪ UST moved to dismiss the case “for cause” on the basis that owning or renting a place operating as a dispensary violates the CSA. 

▪ Debtor alleged it filed bankruptcy to disentangle itself from the cannabis space by rejecting the dispensary lease.

▪ Although the Court found that the lease was not property of the estate and the Debtor was not the lessor, the Court found that: (a) 
the sole purpose of the filing was to facilitate the principal’s efforts to avoid the dispensary lease and (b) the debtor filed bankruptcy 
with unclean hands.

▪ Court speculated that if the dispensary requested stay relief to evict the Debtor, the Court would have to refuse because the
dispensary would also have unclean hands.

▪ Just as “a federal court cannot be asked to enforce the protections of the Bankruptcy Code in aid of a Debtor whose activities constitute a continuing 
federal crime,” Rent-Rite, 484 B.R. at 805 (footnote omitted), neither can a federal court be asked to enforce any creditor protections under the 
Bankruptcy Code, such as the relief-from-stay provisions of 11 U.S.C. § 362(d), in aid of a creditor's commission of a federal crime.



▪ Olson v. Van Meter (In re Olson), 2018 Bankr. LEXIS 480 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. Feb. 5, 2018)
▪ Elderly chapter 13 debtor obtained rental income from a marijuana dispensary on real property she proposed to sell under 

her plan. The bankruptcy court sua sponte dismissed the bankruptcy case because the debtor was accepting rental income 
during the postpetition period from a source engaged in a business that violated federal law. 

▪ BAP vacated and remanded the case, stating that the bankruptcy court needed to make more findings of fact and 
conclusions of law to support dismissal.

▪ In concurring opinion, Judge Tighe opined that a bankruptcy court has to, among other things, make findings to support its 
conclusions that the CSA was being violated.

▪ “When a court imposes the harsh penalty of dismissal in circumstances such as those presented here, it is imperative that it 
state with clarity and precision its factual and legal bases for doing so.”

▪ Garvin v. Cook Invs. NW, SPNWY, LLC, 922 F.3d 1031 (9th Cir. 2019)
▪ Bankruptcy court confirmed a chapter 11 plan where debtor rejected a marijuana grower’s lease and plan payments would 

be funded from rent derived from non-marijuana leases.

▪ Ninth Circuit held that the requirement under 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(3) that a plan must be proposed in good faith only 
requires bankruptcy courts to review a proposed plan to ensure that it does not depend upon any violation of law.

▪ Although under the debtor’s plan the debtor derived income from the lease of property to a marijuana grower in violation 
of 21 U.S.C.S. § 856(a)(1), the plan provided for the creditors' repayment and the debtors' ongoing operations, so it was 
consistent with the objectives and purpose of the Bankruptcy Code.



▪ In re Cwnevada LLC, 2019 Bankr. LEXIS 1770 (Bankr. D. Nev. May 15, 2019)

▪ Debtor was a cannabis cultivator and dispensary and also produced CBD to treat epilepsy.

▪ Debtor defaulted on certain loan obligations, faced a receivership application, and commenced chapter 11.

▪ Court acknowledged that (a) the CBD business may no longer be illegal under the 2018 Farm Act and (b) a 
DIP is required to operate in accordance with state law. 28 U.S.C. § 959(b).

▪ The Court went on to distinguish numerous cases, concluding generally that (a) the chapter 11 and 13 cases 
show a general willingness to allow a debtor to propose a feasible plan that does not rely on income received 
in violation of the CSA and (b) the chapter 7 cases demonstrate that the mere involvement of cannabis-
related assets, income, or connections is not dispositive to whether a particular case is permitted to proceed. 

▪ In dismissing the case, the Court highlighted that the (a) Debtor had not opened a DIP bank account as 
required under section 345(b) and (b) had not engaged a separate disinterested counsel. The Court abstained 
under section 305(a), finding that the interests of creditors and the Debtor would be better served by 
dismissal.

▪ “There may be cases where Chapter 11 relief is appropriate for an individual or a non-individual entity 
directly engaged in a marijuana-related business.”



▪ “A debtor’s pre-petition involvement in the marijuana industry is not a per se bar to relief 
under the Bankruptcy Code.” In re B Fischer Industries, LLC, Case No. 16-20863-MER, ECF 
No. 147 (Bankr. D. Colo. Sept. 27, 2017).

▪ Key Question: 

▪ Can your client propose a plan that does not contemplate violating the CSA?

▪ Landlords – reject marijuana leases and rent to other agricultural entities.

▪ Software Companies – deploy software to non-cannabis entities.

▪ Agricultural Suppliers – show material sales from non-cannabis customers. 

▪ Cultivators / Dispensaries – can you propose a plan that pays creditors solely from hemp / CBD sales?



▪ Scenario: Debtor is an LED light manufacturer. It’s products are used by indoor growers –
vegetables and cannabis – but it does not know the identity of its customers. Your client is a 
cannabis cultivator that entered into a long-term supply agreement with the Debtor prior to the 
petition date, made a substantial down payment, and has not received any lights. 

▪ Questions:

▪ Can the Debtor assume or reject the agreement under section 365?

▪ Can your client file a proof of claim and receive a distribution under a plan?

▪ Can the Debtor honor the agreement in bankruptcy and receive payments from your client?
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Overview of Presentation
• Why can’t marijuana businesses file for bankruptcy?

• Are there any exceptions?

• Alternatives for marijuana businesses in financial distress?

• Alternatives for creditors of marijuana businesses prior and post default?



Controlled Substances Act

21 U.S.C. § 801 et. seq.



Cultivators, Processors, Retailers

§841(a) 

It is unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally –

(1) To manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to 

manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance



Ancillary Businesses – Providers of Goods

§843

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally –

(6) to possess … any equipment … which may be used to manufacture a 

controlled substance … knowing, intending, or having reasonable cause 

to believe, that it will be used to manufacture a controlled substance …;

(7) to manufacture, distribute … any equipment, … which may be used 

to manufacture a controlled substance …, knowing, intending, or having 

reasonable cause to believe, that it will be used to manufacture a 

controlled substance …;



Landlords

§856(a)

it shall be unlawful to  –

(1) knowingly open, lease, rent, use, or maintain any place, whether 

permanently or temporarily, for the purpose of manufacturing, 

distributing, or using any controlled substance



Accomplice

§ 846

Any person who attempts or conspires to commit any offense defined in 

this subchapter shall be subject to the same penalties as those prescribed 

for the offense, the commission of which was the object of the attempt or 

conspiracy.



Specificity
In re Olson - 2018 WL 989263 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2018)

• the bankruptcy court has to, among other things, make findings to support 

its conclusions that the CSA was being violated

• “When a court imposes the harsh penalty of dismissal in circumstances 

such as those presented here, it is imperative that it state with clarity and 

precision its factual and legal bases for doing so.”

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-olson


Office of United States Trustee and 

Bankruptcy Courts Position



Chapter 7
Chapter 7 Process

• In a chapter 7, the assets of a debtor (that are not exempt from creditors) 

are collected, liquidated and distributed to creditors by a trustee

• In a chapter 13 case, the debtor’s assets and the payments made under a 

chapter 13 plan are also administered by a trustee (a chapter 13 trustee)

Bankruptcy Code/ Policy Implicated

• Trustee should not be required to administer assets that would cause 

them to violate federal criminal law



Chapter 11 and 13
Chapter 11 and 13 Process

• A chapter 11 proceeding is used primarily by business entities to 

reorganize their debts while they continue to operate. 

• A chapter 13 proceeding is also used to reorganize debts, but it is used by 

individuals rather than businesses.

• Under each of these chapters, the debtor creates a plan under which the 

debtor proposes to repay all or part of its debts. 

Implicated Bankruptcy Code Provisions

• “court shall confirm a plan only if . . . [t]he plan has been proposed in good 

faith and not by any means forbidden by law.” 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(3); 

1325(a)(3)

• A bankruptcy court may dismiss a case for cause.  11 U.S.C. 1307(c); 1112 

• Cause has been found to include a debtor’s bad faith in filing a case

• A debtor’s inability to propose a plan that can be confirmed is bad faith



Additional Considerations and Policies

• Activities prohibited under the CSA may trigger a penalty of forfeiture (21 

U.S.C. § 881(a)(6)), any payments made under chapter 11 or 13 plans 

funded by prohibited activity are potentially subject to forfeiture which 

would make them illusory

• The prospect of a possible forfeiture or seizure of assets and real property 

that a trustee would need to administer poses risk to a chapter 7 estate 

and trustee

• Bankruptcy system which provides equitable relief under federal law, may 

not be used as an instrument in the ongoing commission of a crime



Case Illustrations



Cultivators/ Dispensaries
Chapter 7

Arenas v. United States Trustee (In re Arenas)

535 B.R. 845 (10th Cir. B.A.P. 2015)

• Facts - Debtors were cultivators and also landlords to a dispensary

• Holding - Chapter 7 trustee could not take control of the debtors' real 

property or liquidate the debtor’s inventory of marijuana plants because 

either action would necessarily violate the CSA

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/arenas-v-united-states-trustee-re-arenas


Chapter 11

In re Mother Earth’s Alternative Healing Coop., Inc.

No. 12-10223-11 (Bankr. S.D. Cal. 2012)

• Facts – Debtor was a dispensary and filed bankruptcy to preserve a lease

• Holding - dispensing marijuana violated the CSA; any plan payments 

would be subject to forfeiture and thus illusory; and any plan that debtor 

may propose could not be confirmed because debtor’s activities that would 

be outlined in a plan would be illegal and thus the plan would not be 

proposed in good faith and in compliance with all laws; the impossibility of 

proposing a viable is indicative of bad faith in initiating a bankruptcy case 

and cause to dismiss the case

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-mother-earths-alternative-healing-coop-inc


Chapter 13

In re McGinnis

453 B.R. 770 (Bankr. D. Or. 2011)

• Facts – Debtor was a cultivator and seller

• Holding – Debtor’s activities violated CSA; debtor’s plan depended on violating federal law, plan 

cannot be considered because it was proposed by means forbidden by law

In re Johnson

532 B.R. 53 (Bankr. W.D. Mich. 2015)

• Facts – Debtor was cultivator and seller; plan was funded by SS payments

• Holding – since money is fungible; and even if plan payments came from another source, debtor’s 

continuing operation of marijuana business would require court, Chapter 13 trustee, and debtor, to 

violate the CSA

In re Wright

Case No. 07-10375 (Bankr. N.D. Cal. 2007)

• Facts – Debtor was a cultivator 

• Holding - debtor’s plan relied on activity forbidden by federal law, therefore debtor cannot show 

that its plan is proposed not by a means forbidden by law

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-mcginnis
https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-johnson
https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-wright


Landlords
Chapter 11

In Re Arm Ventures

564 B.R. 77 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2017)

• Facts – Debtor was landlord that leased commercial property to  dispensary 

• Holding - plan funded by income ultimately generated by the sale of marijuana cannot be 

confirmed as being submitted in good faith

In re Rent-Rite Super Kegs West, Ltd.

484 B.R. 799 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2012)

• Facts – Debtor was a warehouse owner and lessor to cultivator

• Holding – Debtor violated CSA by leasing real property to cultivator (debtor was also a grower); 

real property was subject to forfeiture; continuing the violative leases and potential for 

forfeiture was gross mismanagement of estate property; bankruptcy court is a court of equity 

and for a debtor to be entitled to equitable relief debtor must have clean hands which this 

debtor did not have because of its knowing violation of CSA

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-arm-ventures
https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-rent-rite-super-kegs-west-ltd


Chapter 13

Arenas v. United States Trustee (In re Arenas)

535 B.R. 845 (10th Cir. B.A.P. 2015)

• Facts – debtors were landlords to dispensary (and also cultivators 

themselves) 

• Holding – when debtors sought to covert their case from a Chapter 7 to a 

chapter 13, court held that because any plan would be funded from illegal 

activity (cultivating and dispensing and leasing) the plan could not be 

considered a plan proposed in good faith and by a means not forbidden by 

law; plan would require chapter 13 trustee to administer payments 

activity that violates CSA. Debtors could not be debtors under a chapter13 

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/arenas-v-united-states-trustee-re-arenas


Ancillary Business – Management Co

Chapter 7

In re Medpoint Mgmt., LLC

528 B.R. 178 (Bankr. D. Ariz. 2015) 

• Facts – prior to its bankruptcy case, debtor managed a dispensary, its 

business relationships, and cultivation operations. Once in bankruptcy, it 

ceased managing the dispensary, but it continued licensing a trademark 

under which the dispensary sold its products to a subsidiary of the 

dispensary’s new managing company. 

• Holding – the brand name and the revenue received from licensing the 

trademark could be seized and forfeited, and management co could be 

guilty of facilitation a CSA violation under an accomplice theory; a chapter 

7 trustee administering the debtor’s assets would be violating the CSA

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-medpoint-mgmt-llc


Ancillary Business – Management Co

Chapter 11

In re Way to Grow

No. 18-14330 (Bankr. D. Colo. Dec. 14, 2018)

• Facts – Debtor was a gardening equipment retailer

• Holding – debtor violated CSA by distributing equipment because it had 

reason to believe that its customers were using the equipment to 

manufacture marijuana. The debtor’s testimony regarding the amount of 

sales to marijuana growers, customer lists, participation in cannabis trade 

shows, manager testimony that employees were marijuana growers, press 

statements and investors decks al together were indicative of debtor’s 

knowledge.   



Exceptions



PostPetition Activities
Debtor’s Activities Do Not Violate CSA After Case Filing

In re Cook Investments NW, SPNWY,

No. 17-5516 (W.D. Wash. 2017)

• Debtor landlord rejected a lease with a cultivator and proposed a plan that 

was not funded through payments from the lease 

• UST objected to the plan because it was not proposed in good faith and not 

by any means forbidden by law

• Court held that because the debtor was no longer leasing property to the 

cultivator and the plan was not funded through actions violative of the 

CSA, the plan can be confirmed

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/geiger-v-cook-investments-nw-spnwy-llc-re-cook-investments-nw-spnwy-llc


Chapter 11

In re Way to Grow

No. 18-14330 (Bankr. D. Colo. Dec. 14, 2018)

• Court stressed that the focus of debtor’s activity for an analysis of whether 

debtor is violating laws, is debtor’s postpetition activities.  

• Court tried to come up with an alternative for Debtor to stay in 

bankruptcy, such as by switching its customer target to non-marijuana 

crop growers

• Court , however, noted the impracticalities of a business having to 

potentially cut off a significant revenue source when it is trying to 

reorganize its debt as well as as having to monitor its customers



Plan Requirement
“Not By Means Forbidden by Law” Means Process of Confirming Plan

• Plan confirmation requirement:

• “court shall confirm a plan only if . . . [t]he plan has been proposed in good 

faith and not by any means forbidden by law.” 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(3)

• Means forbidden by law  - what if the focus is upon the conduct manifested 

in obtaining the confirmation votes of a plan of reorganization and not 

necessarily on the substantive nature of the plan 

• In re Cook Investments NW, SPNWY, LLC)

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/geiger-v-cook-investments-nw-spnwy-llc-re-cook-investments-nw-spnwy-llc


Alternate Funding Source
Debtor’s Plan Funded By Alternate Source

In Re Arm Ventures (S.D. Fla.)

• Court rejected a landlord’s plan where it was funded by lease 

payments from a dispensary

• BUT, the court did not dismiss the case.  Instead it gave debtor 

an opportunity to file another plan of reorganization that 

would not be funded with income from the lease

HOWEVER

In re Johnson (W.D. Mich.)

• Court held that debtor can’t just fund a plan from an alternate 

source because money is fungible and debtor would still be 

continuing operation of a marijuana business 

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-arm-ventures
https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-johnson


Liquidation

In re Wright (N.D. Cal.) 

• Court did not preclude a cultivator from converting its case from a chapter 

13 to a chapter 7 

• The court held that the mere fact that a trustee cannot liquidate the 

debtor’s assets does not make the debtor ineligible for Chapter 7 relief

https://www.cannabislawdigest.com/case/re-wright


Chapter 15
• Novel Solution for Companies that “Touch the Plant”

• In certain circumstances – large cannabis companies with a presence in 

Canada – a company may be able to commence a restructuring case in 

Canada and effectuate it in the United States under chapter 15 of the 

Bankruptcy Code.

• No bankruptcy estate – nothing to administer

• Not chapter 11 – no 11 U.S.C. § 1112 dismissal “for cause” issue

• Not chapter 11 – no 11 U.S.C. § 1129 plan proposed in bad faith issue 

• Key Untested Hurdle – 11 U.S.C. § 1506 – “Nothing in this chapter prevents 

the court from refusing to take an action governed by this chapter if the action 

would be manifestly contrary to the public policy of the United States.”



Bankruptcy Takeaways
Situation: Your client sells LED lights and its target market is the cannabis industry.  Your client 

miscalculated his projected cash flows and is facing a liquidity crisis and will soon be in default 

under various secured promissory notes. Negotiations have failed, you want to restructure the 

notes and infuse more capital through a chapter 11 plan of reorganization.

Tips:

• Distance yourself from the cannabis industry. Stop advertising in cannabis magazines. Don’t 

exhibit on trade floors. Don’t sponsor the cannabis cup. Don’t reference cannabis in 

publications, brochures, social media, or your website. 

• Example: Hawthorn Gardening website

• Prepare a business plan that contemplates a non-cannabis focus.

• Engage professionals / consultants that can testify as to the feasibility of your new business 

plan.

• Only after you have your ducks in a row should you file bankruptcy.

• Once in bankruptcy, reject any burdensome contracts (or contracts related to the cannabis 

industry) and move as fast as possible toward confirmation of a plan of reorganization.



Alternatives for Marijuana Businesses 

in Financial Distress



Out-of-Court Workout
• Consensual agreement with creditors

• Need to engage turnaround advisors (restructuring attorneys / consultants)

• Drawbacks:

• In bankruptcy you can force creditors to be bound by your reorganization plan 

(as long as you meet certain requirements)

• Creditors may not be as willing to consider a workout where there is no threat 

of bankruptcy filing and they are being asked to accept less than full 

repayment

• No automatic stay; can’t reject burdensome agreements

• Advantages:

• Creditors may be willing to meet and consider a workout if they are concerned 

about dissemination of assets and lack of oversight which bankruptcy provides

• Flexible, less disruption, less reputation damage

• Most importantly – client stays in control. No trustee.



Process

• Determine source of issue (mismanagement, liquidity, operating exp).

• Formulate a workout plan

• Is the business sustainable through the repayment period

• Financial projections for period (cash flow, P&L, and balance 

sheet)

• Is repayment period reasonable

• How are the creditors going to be repaid

• Source of funding 

• Future cash flow

• New financing

• Equity infusion

• Offer options

• E.g., if mismanagement of funds was an issue, can you 

restructure your cash management system and use lockboxes?

Out-of-Court Workout



• Negotiation

• Secured Creditors – lenders (friends / family / commercial lenders 

whose loans are secured by any assets of the operator (cash in bank 

accounts through DACAs; real property; IP; inventory (where 

permitted))

• Unsecured Creditors - vendors

Out-of-Court Workout



ABC – Assignment for Benefit of Creditors

• Liquidation under state laws overseen by state court (barely)

• Lack of transparency to creditors can be an issue

• Business’ assets are assigned to an assignee picked by business or creditors – who the assignee 

is usually subject to negotiation

• Assignee liquidates assets

• Company technically assigns its assets to the assignee company

• May create issues with licensing

• Assignee has authority to sell assets without court permission

• Creditors are notified of the assignment and file claims

• Assignee distributes any proceeds from liquidation to creditors

• Assignee can pursue claims against preference creditors and fraudulent transfers

• Some targets of fraudulent transfer claims may be clever and seek to remove an action to 

federal court and then invoke unclean hands defense. 

• Creditors typically do not pursue the business because there is no longer any assets in the 

entity

• Disadvantage – (1) Loss of control; (2) Assignee does not have authority to force contract 

counterparties to accept an assignment of their contracts / leases to a purchaser of the assets



Alternatives for Creditors / Vendors of 

Marijuana Businesses



Creditor Options
• Foreclose

• Seek appointment of receiver

• File lawsuit for amount owed



Receiverships
• Receiver takes control of all property at issue

• Temporarily operates the business, sells all or part of company

• Creditors and / or shareholders can seek appointment of receiver

• Appointment Requirements

• Preserves property during litigation

• To windup 

• Mismanagement 

• Disadvantages:

• Loss of control

• Often insufficient assets to compensate trade creditors

• Receiver has limited ability to avoid preferences

• For debtor there is no automatic stay



Article 9 Sales
• Creditor sells liened assets through public or private disposition to third 

party or itself

• Distribution scheme set forth in UCC (administrative costs, secured debt, 

subordinate secured debt)

• Other secured lenders are notified

• Litigation over commercial reasonableness

• Needs to work with licensing authority



Creditor Contract Considerations



• Security Interest in assets to serve as collateral – perfect liens

• Bad Boy Guarantee

• Prepayments / Deposits

• Letter of Credit
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8 MILE, LLC FOR RELIEF FROM STAY

Thomas J. Tucker, United States Bankruptcy Judge

I. Introduction
*1  Among other things, this Chapter 11 case raises

the question whether the Debtor's entanglement with a
medical marijuana dispensary business, which business is
illegal under federal criminal law but not necessarily illegal
under Michigan law, requires the dismissal of this federal
bankruptcy case. The Court concludes that dismissal is
required.

This case came before the Court on March 6, 2019,
for a hearing on three motions, namely: (1) the United
States Trustee's motion to dismiss this case (Docket # 30,
the “Dismissal Motion”); (2) the motion by the Debtor
entitled “Debtor's Motion to Reject Executory Lease with
MJCC 8 Mile, LLC” (Docket # 37, the “Lease Rejection
Motion”); and (3) the motion by MJCC 8 Mile, LLC for
relief from the automatic stay (Docket # 43, the “Stay
Relief Motion”).

After the hearing, after obtaining leave of Court to do

so, 1  the Debtor filed a supplemental brief in further
support of its position on the pending motions, and
the United States Trustee and MJCC 8 Mile, LLC

filed responses to the Debtor's supplemental brief. 2  The
Court has reviewed those post-hearing papers filed by the
parties.

The Court has considered all of the oral and written
arguments of the parties, and all of the briefs and exhibits
filed by the parties. For the reasons stated in this opinion,
the Court will deny the Debtor's Lease Rejection Motion,
grant the United States Trustee's Dismissal Motion, and
deny the Stay Relief Motion as moot.

II. Jurisdiction
This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this

bankruptcy case and this contested matter under 28
U.S.C. §§ 1334(b), 157(a) and 157(b)(1), and Local
Rule 83.50(a) (E.D. Mich.). This is a core proceeding

under 28 U.S.C. §§ 157(b)(2)(A), 157(b)(2)(G), and

157(b)(2)(O).

This proceeding also is “core” because it falls within the
definition of a proceeding “arising under title 11” and of
a proceeding “arising in” a case under title 11, within the

meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1334(b). Matters falling within

either of these categories in § 1334(b) are deemed to be

core proceedings. See Allard v. Coenen (In re Trans–
Industries, Inc.), 419 B.R. 21, 27 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2009).
This is a proceeding “arising under title 11” because it is
“created or determined by a statutory provision of title

11,” see id., including Bankruptcy Code §§ 1112, 365,
and 362. And this is a proceeding “arising in” a case under
title 11, because it is a proceeding that “by [its] very nature,

could arise only in bankruptcy cases.” See id. at 27.

III. Discussion

A. Background
The Debtor filed this Chapter 11 bankruptcy case

on December 16, 2018. 3  The Debtor is a Michigan
corporation that “is in the business of manufacturing and
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installing custom cabinets[.]” 4  The Debtor occupies and
uses two conjoined buildings, located at 7451 and 7461
West 8 Mile Road, Detroit, Michigan. That real estate (the
“Nocha Property”) is owned by Weaam Nocha, who is

the President and sole shareholder of the Debtor. 5  It is
undisputed that the Debtor is not, and never has been, an

owner of the Nocha Property. 6

B. The November 16, 2016 Lease, and the Debtor's pre-
petition state court litigation with MJCC 8 Mile, LLC
*2  Before filing this bankruptcy case, the Debtor,

Weaam Nocha, and others were defendants in a state
court lawsuit filed by MJCC 8 Mile, LLC, captioned
MJCC 8 Mile, LLC v. Basrah Custom Design, Inc., et al.,
Case No. 17-001663 (Wayne County, Michigan Circuit
Court) (the “State Court Lawsuit”).

In the State Court Lawsuit, MJCC 8 Mile, LLC
(“MJCC”) claimed to have the right to possession of the
Nocha Property under a written lease, which lease also
gave MJCC an option to purchase the Nocha Property.
MJCC sought enforcement of that lease and the purchase
option. The lease was executed on November 16, 2016,
and is referred to in this Opinion as the “November Lease”
or the “November 2016 Lease.” A copy of the November
Lease appears in the record of this case as Exhibit 1 to the

brief filed by the Debtor on February 8, 2019. 7

The November Lease named the Debtor as the
“Landlord” and MJCC as the “Tenant,” and it was signed
on November 16, 2016 by Weaam Nocha for the Debtor,
as “Its Owner,” and by MJCC.

Under the November Lease, MJCC leased the part of
the Nocha Property located at 7461 West 8 Mile Road,
for an initial term of 5 years, renewable by MJCC for 6

additional 5-year terms. 8  During that lease term, MJCC
also had the option to lease the adjacent part of the
Nocha Property, located at 7451 West 8 Mile Road, also
for an initial term of 5 years, renewable by MJCC for 3

additional 5-year terms. 9  The November Lease also gave
MJCC an option to purchase the Nocha Property, for $

1.2 million. 10

It is undisputed, and was clearly understood by all parties
at the time of the signing of the November Lease, that
MJCC's purpose in entering into the November Lease

was to use the Nocha Property to operate a medical
marijuana dispensary. And this is clear from the face of
the November Lease. For example, the document stated
that “[t]he Premises will be used for a licensed medical
marijuana dispensary (the ‘Designated Use’) and for no

other purpose whatsoever.” 11  And the initial 5-year term
of the Lease was to begin “on the date Tenant receives
approval from the City of Detroit for its Designated

Use[.]” 12

The defendants in the State Court Lawsuit were the
Debtor, Weaam Nocha, Rafaa Nocha (Weaam Nocha's
wife, a/k/a Rafaa Dawood), Holden Dawood (the
Nochas's son), and DMCC, LLC (a limited liability
company formed by the defendants). All of the defendants
jointly defended against MJCC's claims, and opposed the
efforts of MJCC to obtain possession of or purchase the
Nocha Property. One of their primary defenses was that
MJCC “fraudulently tricked” Weaam Nocha into signing

the November Lease. 13

It is undisputed that in seeking relief in the State Court
Lawsuit, and in now seeking stay relief in this Court,
MJCC has sought possession and ownership of the
Nocha Property, in order to use that property as a
medical marijuana dispensary. Such a marijuana business
apparently would not violate Michigan law, but as
discussed below, it would violate federal criminal law.

C. The State Court Decision
*3  The State Court Lawsuit went to trial, and on

December 7, 2018, the state court found for MJCC, in
a lengthy written opinion and order, entitled “Finding
of Facts and Conclusions of Law” (the “State Court
Decision”). A copy of the State Court Decision appears in
the record of this case as Exhibit 4 to the Debtor's brief

filed on February 8, 2019. 14

As discussed in Part III.D of this Opinion, below, the
findings and conclusions of the State Court Decision are
binding in this Court, on the Debtor, Weaam Nocha, and
MJCC, under the doctrine of collateral estoppel. For this
reason, and because they are important to this Court's
decision on the pending motions, the Court will describe
the state court's findings and conclusions in detail.

In the State Court Decision, the state court found and
concluded, among other things, that:
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• Weaam Nocha was not tricked or fraudulently induced

into signing the November Lease; 15

• at the time the November Lease was signed, the Nocha

Property was owned solely by Weaam Nocha; 16

• Weaam Nocha signed the November Lease as an agent
of the Debtor, and the Debtor in turn signed the
November Lease as agent of and on behalf of the

owner of the property at issue, Weaam Nocha; 17

• the November Lease, including the purchase option it

contains, is valid and enforceable by MJCC; 18

• the term of the November Lease began on November
10, 2016, and MJCC's right to exclusive possession of

the Nocha Property began on November 26, 2016. 19

*4  The State Court Decision found that the Nocha
Property is one of the very few properties located within
the City of Detroit that is available and suitable for
conducting a medical marijuana dispensary. The state
court found that “there are very few fully compliant
properties in the City [of Detroit]” where one can “open

a medical marijuana dispensary.” 20  This is “due to the
tight restrictions imposed by Detroit's Medical Marijuana

Zoning Ordinance.” 21  But the Nocha Property is such an
available property — as the state court put it, the property

is “in the ‘green zone.’ ” 22

The state court also found that the efforts by Weaam
Nocha, the Debtor, and the other defendants to avoid
enforcement of the November Lease, including its
purchase option, were motivated by a desire to make more
money from the Nocha Property, either by (1) renting or
selling the Nocha Property to MJCC, or someone else
in the medical marijuana business, for a higher rent or
a higher sale price than the $ 1.2 million price set by
the purchase option in the November Lease; or (2) using
the property to open and operate a marijuana dispensary
themselves.

The State Court Decision described, in detailed

findings: 23

• how Weaam Nocha and his wife, Rafaa, continually
demanded more money from MJCC for the lease
or purchase of the Nocha Property, even after

the November Lease was signed, demanding, for
example, an increase in rent from the $ 5,000.00

per month in the November Lease 24  to $ 7,500.00
per month, and demanding $ 1.5 million to sell the
property to MJCC instead of the $ 1.2 million agreed

to in the November Lease's purchase option; 25

• how MJCC refused the Nochas's greater financial
demands, and instead insisted on performance of the

November Lease; 26

• how the Nochas then reacted by refusing to honor the

November Lease; 27  and

• how all of the state court defendants — i.e., the
Debtor, Weaam Nocha, Rafaa Nocha, and their son
Holden Dawood — then decided to open and operate
a medical marijuana dispensary themselves at the
Nocha Property, and went to great lengths to try to
do so; including the defendants' formation of a new
LLC — the defendant DMCC, LLC — to obtain a
license from the City of Detroit to operate a medical

marijuana dispensary. 28

Based on its detailed findings, the state court entered a

judgment in favor of MJCC and against the defendants. 29

For relief, “given the validity of the November 2016
Lease,” the State Court Decision ordered that MJCC

could elect one of two options. 30

Under the first option, MJCC could elect to have a
“[d]eclaratory judgment that the November 2016 Lease
is valid and enforceable.” Under this option, MJCC was
required to “exercise[ ] its option [under the November
2016 Lease] to purchase the entire property (7451 and
7461) for [$] 1.2 million” and MJCC would obtain the
“immediate transfer of ownership to DMCC to Plaintiff[ ]

along with possession of the Property.” 31

Under the second option, MJCC could elect to have a
declaratory judgment that “the November 2016 [L]ease [is]
null and void,” plus a money judgment in the total amount

of $ 713,658.72. 32  Under this option, “Defendants would
maintain ownership of the property and the Marijuana

license.” 33

*5  MJCC elected the first of these alternative forms of
relief, and desires to close, as soon as possible, on its
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purchase of the Nocha Property for the $ 1.2 million
price. This is so MJCC can begin to operate its medical
marijuana dispensary business on the Nocha Property as
soon as possible.

Nine days after the State Court Decision, and in direct
response to it, the Debtor filed this bankruptcy case. The
Debtor and the other state court defendants also filed an
appeal of the State Court Decision to the Michigan Court
of Appeals, which appeal is pending.

D. The preclusive effect of the State Court Decision, under
the doctrine of collateral estoppel
As the Debtor's counsel conceded during the hearing,
the findings and conclusions of the state court in the
State Court Decision are binding on the Debtor and
MJCC. Those parties are precluded from contesting such
findings and conclusions in this bankruptcy case, under
the doctrine of collateral estoppel. And this is so even
though the Debtor has appealed the State Court Decision.

This Court previously has explained how collateral
estoppel applies in bankruptcy cases, under the federal

Full Faith and Credit Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1738: 34

“In determining whether a state court judgment
precludes relitigation of issues under the doctrine of
collateral estoppel, the Full Faith and Credit Statute,
28 U.S.C. § 1738, requires bankruptcy courts to “
‘consider first the law of the State in which the judgment
was rendered to determine its preclusive effect.’ ”

Bay Area Factors v. Calvert (In re Calvert), 105

F.3d 315, 317 (6th Cir. 1997)(quoting Marrese v.
Am. Acad. of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 470 U.S. 373, 375,
105 S.Ct. 1327, 84 L.Ed.2d 274 (1985)). If the state
courts would not deem the judgment binding under
collateral estoppel principles, then the bankruptcy court
cannot do so either. But if the state courts would give
preclusive effect to the judgment, then the bankruptcy
court [generally] must also give the judgment preclusive
effect[.]”

Taleb v. Kramer (In re Kramer), 543 B.R. 551, 553 (Bankr.
E.D. Mich. 2015) (footnote omitted) (quoting McCallum
v. Pixley (In re Pixley), 456 B.R. 770, 775-76 (Bankr. E.D.
Mich. 2011)); see also In re Indiana Hotel Equities, LLC,
586 B.R. 870, 875 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2018) (same).

Because the State Court Decision was entered in the
Wayne County Circuit Court in the state of Michigan,
the Court must look to Michigan law to determine the
collateral estoppel effect of that decision. As this Court
has explained in prior cases,

Under Michigan law, the following requirements must
be met in order for collateral estoppel to apply:

1) there is identity of parties across the proceedings,

2) there was a valid, final judgment in the first
proceeding,

3) the same issue was actually litigated and necessarily
determined in the first proceeding, and

4) the party against whom the doctrine is asserted had
a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the
earlier proceeding.

Phillips v. Weissert (In re Phillips), 434 B.R. 475, 485
(6th Cir. BAP 2010) (citation omitted)....

*6  Under Michigan law, an issue is “actually litigated”
if it is “put into issue by the pleadings, submitted to
the trier of fact for determination, and is thereafter

determined.” Phillips, 434 B.R. at 486 (majority

opinion) (quoting Latimer v. William Mueller & Son,
Inc., 149 Mich.App. 620, 386 N.W.2d 618, 627 (1986));

Phillips, 434 B.R. at 490 (Rhodes, J., concurring)
(same)....

An issue that is “actually litigated” is also considered
to be “necessarily determined” if “it is necessary to the

judgment.” See id. at 493; see also Rohe Scientific
Corp. v. Nat'l Bank of Detroit, 133 Mich.App. 462, 350
N.W.2d 280, 282 (1984) (citation omitted) ....

Pixley I, 456 B.R. at 776, 778-79.

Lenchner v. Korn (In re Korn), 567 B.R. 280, 298-99
(Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2017).

With respect to each of the findings and conclusions
recounted in this Opinion from the State Court Decision,
all of the requirements for the application of collateral
estoppel are met: (1) the relevant parties (the Debtor,
Weaam Nocha, and MJCC) are the same; (2) the State
Court Decision is a valid, final judgment; (3) the issues
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were actually litigated and necessarily determined by the
State Court Decision; and (4) all the parties in the State
Court Lawsuit, including the Debtor, Weaam Nocha, and
MJCC, had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues
decided in the State Court Decision.

The State Court Decision is considered a valid, final
judgment for collateral estoppel purposes, even though
the Debtor and Weaam Nocha have appealed that
decision to the Michigan Court of Appeals. See Taleb
v. Kramer, 543 B.R. at 559 (“[U]nder Michigan law, a
final ... judgment has preclusive effect under the doctrine
of collateral estoppel ... even when the judgment is on
appeal or the time for appeals has not yet expired.”).
Collateral estoppel therefore applies, and in effect, the
parties to the State Court Decision, including the Debtor,
Weaam Nocha, and MJCC, are bound by the findings and
conclusions in the State Court Decision, unless and until
that State Court Decision is reversed, vacated, or modified
on appeal. And counsel for the Debtor explicitly conceded
this, during the hearing.

E. Discussion of the Debtor's motion to reject the

November 2016 Lease, under Bankruptcy Code § 365.
In its Lease Rejection Motion, the Debtor seeks an order
allowing it to reject the November 2016 Lease. MJCC
opposes that motion on several grounds. The United
States Trustee also opposes that motion, because he seeks
dismissal of this case.

The Court must deny the Debtor's Lease Rejection
Motion, for two reasons. First, the November Lease is not

a lease that the Debtor may reject under 11 U.S.C. §
365, because the Debtor is not a real party in interest under
that lease. Rather, the Debtor signed the November Lease
only in its capacity as agent for the one and only owner of
the Nocha Property at issue, namely, Weaam Nocha. This
is conclusively established by the State Court Decision,
as noted in parts III.C and III.D of this Opinion. As a
result, the Debtor cannot assume or reject the November

Lease under § 365. That section says that a “trustee,”
which includes a Chapter 11 debtor-in-possession under
11 U.S.C. § 1107(a), “subject to the court's approval, may
assume or reject any executory contract or unexpired lease

of the debtor.” 11 U.S.C. § 365(a) (emphasis added).

Many of the subsections in § 365 use this phrase,

executory contract or unexpired lease “of the debtor,” and

thereby reinforce the point that § 365 applies only to

such contracts “of the debtor.” See, e.g., 11 U.S.C. §§

365(b)(1), 365(b)(4), 365(c), 365(d)(1), 365(d)

(2), 365(e)(1), 365(e)(2), 365(f)(1), 365(f)(2),

365(f)(3), 365(g), 365(i)(1).

*7  The November Lease is not a lease “of the debtor” but
rather is a lease of the Debtor's 100% shareholder, Weaam
Nocha, who at the time of the November Lease was the
only owner of the subject property. (As noted in Part III.A
of this Opinion, it is undisputed that the Debtor is not
and never has been an owner of the subject property.) The
Debtor therefore cannot assume or reject the November
Lease, so the Debtor's Lease Rejection Motion must be
denied.

That Motion also must be denied for a second reason,
namely, because this bankruptcy case must be dismissed,
for the reasons discussed below.

F. Discussion of the United States Trustee's Dismissal
Motion
The United States Trustee (the “UST”) seeks dismissal
of this bankruptcy case, for “cause” under 11 U.S.C. §
1112(b)(1). That section states:

(b)(1) Except as provided in
paragraph (2) and subsection (c),
on request of a party in interest,
and after notice and a hearing, the
court shall convert a case under this
chapter to a case under chapter 7
or dismiss a case under this chapter,
whichever is in the best interests of
creditors and the estate, for cause
unless the court determines that the
appointment under section 1104(a)
of a trustee or an examiner is in the
best interests of creditors and the
estate.

11 U.S.C. § 1112(b)(1). In partially defining what the
general “cause” standard in § 1112(b)(1) means, “[s]ection
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1112(b)(4) contains a nonexhaustive list of examples of
‘cause’ justifying dismissal of a Chapter 11 case.” In re
Creekside Sr. Apartments, L.P., 489 B.R. 51, 60 (6th Cir.
BAP 2013).

In determining whether cause exists to dismiss a
case under § 1112(b), a court must engage in a
“case-specific” factual inquiry which “focus[es] on the

circumstances of each debtor.” United Savs. Ass'n
of Tex. v. Timbers of Inwood Forest Assocs., Ltd. (In
re Timbers of Inwood Forest Assocs., Ltd.), 808 F.2d

363, 371–72 (5th Cir.1987) (en banc), aff'd, 484
U.S. 365, 108 S.Ct. 626, 98 L.Ed.2d 740 (1988); In re
Great Am. Pyramid Joint Venture, 144 B.R. 780, 791
(Bankr.W.D.Tenn.1992).

Id.; see also In re Skymark Properties II, LLC, 597 B.R.
391, 395-96 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2019).

1. The federal Controlled Substances Act
The UST seeks dismissal of this case because of
the Debtor's entanglement with a medical marijuana
dispensary business. That business may well be legal under

Michigan law, 35  and the Court will assume as much for
purposes of deciding the Dismissal Motion. But it is clear
that such a marijuana dispensary business is illegal under
federal law.

*8  There is no dispute that operating a medical
marijuana dispensary is a violation of the federal
Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. §§ 801-904 (the
“CSA”). Marijuana is an illegal Schedule I controlled

substance under the CSA, see 21 U.S.C. § 812(c)(10),
despite the adoption by several states in recent years of
laws permitting the sale and use of marijuana for medical

and/or recreational purposes. See generally Gonzales v.
Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 10-15, 125 S.Ct. 2195, 162 L.Ed.2d 1

(2005). As the Supreme Court explained in Gonzales v.
Raich,

In enacting the CSA, Congress classified marijuana as a

Schedule I drug. 21 U.S.C. § 812(c).... By classifying
marijuana as a Schedule I drug, as opposed to listing it
on a lesser schedule, the manufacture, distribution, or
possession of marijuana became a criminal offense, with
the sole exception being use of the drug as part of a Food
and Drug Administration preapproved research study.

§§ 823(f), 841(a)(1), 844(a); see also United States v.
Oakland Cannabis Buyers' Cooperative, 532 U.S. 483,
490, 121 S.Ct. 1711, 149 L.Ed.2d 722 (2001).

...

Despite considerable efforts to reschedule marijuana, it
remains a Schedule I drug.

545 U.S. at 14-15, 125 S.Ct. 2195 (footnote omitted).

Of the statutes cited by the Supreme Court in Gonzales

v. Raich, 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) makes it a crime
“knowingly or intentionally ... to manufacture, distribute,
or dispense” a controlled substance, including marijuana,
and that statute provides for criminal penalties including

imprisonment and fines. E.g., 21 U.S.C. § 841(b)(1)(D).

And as the UST points out, operating a medical marijuana
dispensary, or owning or renting a place operating as
such a dispensary, also would be a federal crime under 21
U.S.C. § 856(a). That section states:

Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be
unlawful to—

(1) knowingly open, lease, rent, use, or maintain any
place, whether permanently or temporarily, for the
purpose of manufacturing, distributing, or using any
controlled substance;

(2) manage or control any place, whether permanently
or temporarily, either as an owner, lessee, agent,
employee, occupant, or mortgagee, and knowingly and
intentionally rent, lease, profit from, or make available
for use, with or without compensation, the place
for the purpose of unlawfully manufacturing, storing,
distributing, or using a controlled substance.

21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(1)-(2) (emphasis added). Violation of
this statute subjects one to possible imprisonment of up to
20 years, and a possible criminal fine of up to $ 2 million
“for a person other than an individual,” as well as the
possibility of substantial civil penalties. See 21 U.S.C. §§
856(b), 856(d).

2. Bankruptcy cases
Because of these federal statutes, several bankruptcy
courts have found cause to dismiss a bankruptcy case
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filed by a debtor whose income was derived, directly or
indirectly, at least in part, from the business of selling

marijuana. For example, in In re Rent-Rite Super Kegs
West Ltd., 484 B.R. 799, 802-04 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2012),
the bankruptcy court found that the Chapter 11 debtor
had “unclean hands,” and that “cause” existed under 11
U.S.C. § 1112(b) to dismiss or convert the bankruptcy
case, because the debtor derived roughly 25% of its
revenues from leasing warehouse space to tenants engaged
in the business of growing marijuana. The court found
that the debtor's business “involves a continuing violation
of the federal Controlled Substances Act,” even though
the marijuana growing activity was “arguably legal under

Colorado law.” 484 B.R. at 802 (footnote omitted).
The court held that “a federal court cannot be asked to
enforce the protections of the Bankruptcy Code in aid of
a Debtor whose activities constitute a continuing federal

crime.” Id. at 805 (footnote omitted).

*9  This is so, the Rent-Rite court held, “even if the
Debtor is never charged or prosecuted under the CSA,”
and even though, generally, “federal prosecutors may
well choose to exercise their prosecutorial discretion and
decline to seek indictments under the CSA where the
activity that is illegal on the federal level is legal under ...

state law.” 484 B.R. at 805.

In another case arising in Colorado, Arenas v. United
States Trustee (In re Arenas), 535 B.R. 845 (10th Cir. BAP
2015), the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel (the “B.A.P.”)
for the Tenth Circuit affirmed the bankruptcy court's
dismissal of a Chapter 7 case filed by a marijuana grower
and his wife. The B.A.P. stated:

Possessing, growing, and dispensing
marijuana and assisting others to
do that are federal offenses. But
like several other states, Colorado
has legalized these acts and
heavily regulates them, triggering
a flourishing marijuana industry
there. Can a debtor in the marijuana
business obtain relief in the federal
bankruptcy court? No.

535 B.R. at 847 (emphasis added).

In Arenas, one of the joint debtors was licensed in
Colorado “to grow and dispense medical marijuana,” and
he did so in one of the two units of a commercial building

that the debtors jointly owned. 36  The debtors leased the
other unit of their building to an LLC that operated a
marijuana dispensary. Id. The bankruptcy court denied a
motion by the debtors to convert their case to Chapter
13, and granted a motion by the United States Trustee to
dismiss the case, for cause under 11 U.S.C. § 707(a). Id. at
848. The B.A.P. affirmed the bankruptcy court's decisions.
The B.A.P. found that while the debtors' activities were
legal under Colorado state law, they violated the CSA.
Id. at 847. It held that “while the debtors have not
engaged in intrinsically evil conduct, the debtors cannot
obtain bankruptcy relief because their marijuana business
activities are federal crimes.” Id. at 849-50. The B.A.P.
also held that a bankruptcy trustee could not administer
the marijuana assets, including the marijuana plants and
the debtors' building, because that would violate federal
criminal law. See id. at 852-53. The court noted that
“[t]he CSA criminalizes virtually every aspect of selling,
manufacturing, distributing and profiting from the use of

controlled substances.” Id. at 852 n.40 (citing 21 U.S.C.
§§ 841(a)(1) and 856(a)).

Finally, in the case of In re Way to Grow, Inc., 597 B.R. 111
(Bankr. D. Colo. 2018), the bankruptcy court dismissed
the Chapter 11 cases of three affiliated companies,
because of the debtors' involvement in a marijuana-related
business. That involvement was more indirect than that of
the debtors in the other cases, discussed above. In Way to
Grow, the court described the debtors' business as follows:

Debtors' business involves the sale of equipment for
indoor hydroponic and gardening-related supplies. As
to their customers' uses of their products, Debtors
have represented “[w]hile the hydroponic gardening
equipment may [be] and is used for many types of crops,
the Debtors' future business expansion plan is tied to
the growing cannabis industry which is heavily reliant
on hydroponic gardening.”

597 B.R. at 114-15 (footnote omitted). After citing certain

provisions of the CSA, namely 21 U.S.C. §§ 812 and

841(a)(1), quoted above, the court in Way to Grow
further noted that
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*10  the CSA prohibits any person from possessing
or distributing “any equipment ... product or material
which may be used to manufacture a controlled
substance ... knowing, intending, or having reasonable
cause to believe, that it will be used to manufacture a
controlled substance” in violation of federal law. The
CSA also expressly provides any person who “conspires
to commit any offense” under the CSA shall be subject
to the same penalties as the principal.

597 B.R. at 116 (footnotes omitted) (citing 21 U.S.C. §§

843(a)(6), 843(a)(7), and 846).

The Way to Grow court observed that “bankruptcy
courts have consistently dismissed cases where debtors
engaged in ongoing CSA violations, or where a debtor's
reorganization efforts depend on funds which can be
considered proceeds of CSA violations.” 597 B.R. at

117. 37  The court ultimately concluded that the debtors'
business violated the CSA, both before and after filing
their bankruptcy cases:

Debtors certainly know they are selling products to
customers who will, and do, use those products to
manufacture a controlled substance in violation of the
CSA. Debtors tailor their business to cater to those
needs, tout their expertise in doing so, and market
themselves consistent with their knowledge. There is
no evidence this business model has materially changed
post-petition.

The Court concludes Debtors' business model and

execution thereof fundamentally violates § 843(a)(7).
These violations continue post-petition, ....

Id. at 131. Because of this, the court found, “inescapably,”
that there was cause to dismiss the bankruptcy case under
11 U.S.C. § 1112(b). Id. at 132. And because the court saw
“no practical alternative to dismissal,” the court dismissed
the bankruptcy case. Id. This result, the court held, was
necessary “[t]o prevent this Court from violating its oath

to uphold federal law[.]” Id. 38

3. This case

a. “Cause” exists under § 1112(b)(1) to dismiss or
convert this case.

*11  The UST argues that the Debtor has filed and
is pursuing this bankruptcy case with unclean hands,
because the Debtor's purpose is not to disentangle from
any marijuana-based business, but rather to enable its
owner to profit from a marijuana business. The UST
argues that the Debtor's real purpose is to use this
bankruptcy case to help enable the Debtor's 100%
shareholder, Weaam Nocha, to obtain a better marijuana-
based deal than what is provided by the November Lease
and the State Court Decision.

The Debtor denies that it has unclean hands. The Debtor
says that it wants to disentangle itself from the November
Lease, by rejecting that lease. The Debtor insists that it
does not want to be involved in the marijuana business,
but rather just wants to try to reorganize its custom
cabinet business, and continue doing that business, at its
existing location.

But this Court is bound to reject these assertions by the
Debtor. It is clear and obvious to this Court, from the
findings and conclusions in the State Court Decision, that
the Debtor's sole shareholder, Weaam Nocha, caused the
Debtor to file this bankruptcy case for the sole purpose
of evading the State Court Decision, and avoiding the
enforcement of the November Lease, so that Weaam
Nocha does not have to sell the Nocha Property to MJCC
for only $ 1.2 million. Weaam Nocha obviously wants to
realize more money for himself, as owner of the Nocha
Property, than what the enforcement of the State Court
Decision will give him, either by (1) renting or selling the
Nocha Property to MJCC, or to some other marijuana
dispensary business, for a higher rent or a higher sale price
than $ 1.2 million; or (2) using the property to operate
a marijuana dispensary himself, as he started to do with
the help of his immediate family members before the State
Court Decision was issued. Weaam Nocha did not cause
the Debtor to file this bankruptcy case for the benefit of
the Debtor or the Debtor's creditors, but rather solely for
his own benefit — a benefit that depends on activity that
is illegal under the CSA.

Borrowing from the words used by the UST in its motion,
Weaam Nocha wants to use this bankruptcy case “to set
aside this illegal contract [i.e., the November Lease] so that

he can negotiate a better illegal contract.” 39

Under Weaam Nocha's control, the Debtor denies these
things. But these denials are precluded by the State

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2047588655&pubNum=0000164&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_164_116&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_164_116
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/Flag?documentGuid=N1F2C7E30400411DEBC4FE2166D3981A1&transitionType=InlineKeyCiteFlags&originationContext=docHeaderFlag&Rank=0&contextData=(sc.DocLink) 
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=21USCAS843&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_1496000051ed7
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=21USCAS843&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_1496000051ed7
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/Flag?documentGuid=N1F2C7E30400411DEBC4FE2166D3981A1&transitionType=InlineKeyCiteFlags&originationContext=docHeaderFlag&Rank=0&contextData=(sc.DocLink) 
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=21USCAS843&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_36f10000408d4
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=21USCAS846&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2047588655&pubNum=0000164&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2047588655&pubNum=0000164&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_164_117&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_164_117
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2047588655&pubNum=0000164&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_164_117&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_164_117
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/Flag?documentGuid=N1F2C7E30400411DEBC4FE2166D3981A1&transitionType=InlineKeyCiteFlags&originationContext=docHeaderFlag&Rank=0&contextData=(sc.DocLink) 
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=21USCAS843&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_36f10000408d4
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2047588655&pubNum=0000164&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_164_131&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_164_131
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=11USCAS1112&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_a83b000018c76
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2047588655&pubNum=0000164&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_164_132&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_164_132
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2047588655&pubNum=0000164&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2047588655&pubNum=0000164&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=11USCAS1112&originatingDoc=I05a45c907cc511e9b508f0c9c0d45880&refType=RB&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_3fed000053a85


In re Basrah Custom Design, Inc., --- B.R. ---- (2019)

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 9

Court Decision's findings and conclusions. The Debtor
and Weaam Nocha both are bound by the findings
and conclusions in the State Court Decision, under the
doctrine of collateral estoppel. That means that they
are precluded from now making assertions that are
contrary to the findings and conclusions of the State Court
Decision. And those findings and conclusions, described
in Part III.C of this Opinion, inescapably lead to this
Court's conclusions of what that the actual purpose of this
bankruptcy case is.

The assertion that the Debtor, Weaam Nocha, and his
family do not want the Nocha Property to be used or
involved in the marijuana business, especially, is belied
by the state court's detailed findings about all the efforts
Weaam Nocha and his family went to in order to operate
their own marijuana dispensary business at the Nocha
Property, after refusing to honor the November Lease
with MJCC. And then, only nine days after losing the
State Court Lawsuit, Weaam Nocha caused the Debtor
to file this bankruptcy case (1) to try to “reject” the

November Lease under Bankruptcy Code § 365; and
(2) to try to obtain the benefit of the automatic stay to
delay MJCC's obtaining ownership of the Nocha Property
while Weaam Nocha, the Debtor, and the other state court
defendants appeal the State Court Decision.

*12  The actual purpose of filing and prosecuting
this bankruptcy case is for the Debtor and its 100%
shareholder to use this bankruptcy court, and the
Bankruptcy Code, to assist them in obtaining a result that
is contrary to federal criminal law under the Controlled
Substances Act, and therefore contrary to federal public
policy.

This federal court cannot allow itself to be used in this
way. The Court finds that the Debtor has unclean hands,
and that there is “cause” to dismiss or convert this case,
under 11 U.S.C. § 1112(b)(1).

b. There is no practical alternative to dismissal
Having found that cause exists to dismiss or convert this
case under § 1112(b)(1), the Court next must determine
which of these choices is “in the best interests of creditors

and the estate.” 40  The Court finds that dismissal, rather
than conversion to Chapter 7, is in the best interests of
creditors and the estate, for the following reasons.

First, a conversion to Chapter 7 would mean a liquidation
of the Debtor, and the termination of the Debtor's
business of manufacturing and installing custom cabinets.
The Debtor does not want to liquidate in Chapter 7.
Rather, the Debtor has expressed a desire to continue
operating its custom cabinets business, even though that

business is relatively small, 41  and there is no reason
to think that the Debtor cannot continue to operate its
custom cabinets business outside of bankruptcy. Nor has
any creditor of the Debtor advocated for the conversion
and liquidation of the Debtor in Chapter 7. There is no
reason to think that a liquidation of the Debtor in Chapter
7 is in the best interests of the creditors or the estate.

Second, like the court in the Way to Grow case, discussed
in Part III.F.2 of this Opinion, this Court sees “no
practical alternative to dismissal” in this case. See Way
to Grow, 597 B.R. at 132. Conversion is not a practical
alternative. As discussed in Part III.E of this Opinion, the
Court has ruled that the Debtor cannot reject (or assume)

the November Lease under § 365(a), because that lease
is not a lease or executory contract “of the debtor.” That
ruling will thwart the bankruptcy strategy in this case of
the Debtor and its owner, Weaam Nocha. But even with
that ruling, the continued pendency of this bankruptcy
case, whether in Chapter 11 or in Chapter 7, creates an
impossible situation for this Court.

*13  One major problem has to do with the automatic
stay. After this Court's ruling on the Debtor's Lease
Rejection Motion, Weaam Nocha will be forced by the
state court, under the State Court Decision, to sell the
Nocha Property to MJCC, and MJCC then will become
the owner of that property. As owner, MJCC will have
the exclusive right to possession of the Nocha Property,
under Michigan law. But the Debtor operates its custom
cabinet business from that property, and currently is in
sole possession of that property. While this bankruptcy
case remains pending, under either Chapter 11 or Chapter
7, the automatic stay will prevent MJCC from taking any
action to wrest away possession of the Nocha Property
from the Debtor, even after MJCC becomes the owner

of the Nocha Property. See, e.g., 11 U.S.C. §§ 362(a)

(1), 362(a)(3); 42  Convenient Food Mart No. 144, Inc.
v. Convenient Indus. of Am., Inc. (In re Convenient Food
Mart No. 144, Inc.), 968 F.2d 592, 594 (6th Cir. 1992)
(holding that a bankruptcy debtor in possession of real
estate, which has no right to possession, but which has
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a “tenancy at sufferance” under Kentucky law, has a
“possessory interest in real property” that is protected by
the automatic stay); Chrysler LLC v. Plastech Engineered
Prods., Inc. (In re Plastech Engineered Prods., Inc.), 382
B.R. 90, 106 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2008) (holding that even
a bankruptcy debtor's “bare possessory interest” in certain

tooling was protected by the automatic stay, under 11
U.S.C. § 362(a)(3)).

In a normal case, when a bankruptcy debtor is in
possession of real property that belongs to another
person, and the debtor has no right to possession of that
property under applicable non-bankruptcy law, it might
be relatively easy for the owner of the property to file
a motion seeking relief from the automatic stay, and
obtain such relief. Such relief from the stay would be to
permit that owner to prosecute an eviction action in an
appropriate non-bankruptcy court, to obtain possession
of the property. (MJCC has filed a motion for relief from
stay in this case.)

But this is not a normal case. In this case, the Court
likely would have to refuse to grant any stay relief, or
any other relief, requested by MJCC, because MJCC also
has unclean hands. The granting of stay relief to MJCC
obviously would assist MJCC in its efforts to open and
operate a medical marijuana dispensary, in violation of
federal law. Just as “a federal court cannot be asked to
enforce the protections of the Bankruptcy Code in aid of
a Debtor whose activities constitute a continuing federal

crime,” Rent-Rite, 484 B.R. at 805 (footnote omitted),
neither can a federal court be asked to enforce any creditor
protections under the Bankruptcy Code, such as the relief-

from-stay provisions of 11 U.S.C. § 362(d), in aid of a
creditor's commission of a federal crime.

This Court is unwilling and unable to assist a party like
MJCC to violate federal law. So this Court likely would
not grant stay relief to MJCC, even after MJCC became
the owner of the Nocha Property.

Thus, the continuation of this bankruptcy case, under
either Chapter 11 or Chapter 7, would leave the Court
and the parties stuck in the middle of a continuing tug-of-

war between two parties with unclean hands (the Debtor
and MJCC), with the Court unable and unwilling to
grant relief to either party. To use a metaphor employed
by the UST, the only practical solution is to “cut the

Gordian knot,” 43  by dismissing this case. Such dismissal
is available here, at the request of a party that does not
have unclean hands — the UST. And dismissal will leave
the Debtor, Weaam Nocha, and MJCC to continue their
battles in the state court, where those battles belong.

*14  So the Court will dismiss this bankruptcy case. And
in order to prevent any attempted evasion by anyone of
the Court's decisions today, the Court will bar the filing of
any new bankruptcy case, by or against the Debtor, for a
period of two years. This should give ample time for the
Debtor's pending state court appeal to conclude. Imposing
this bar to a new bankruptcy filing is within the Court's
discretion and authority, under 11 U.S.C. § 105(a), and
also under 11 U.S.C. § 349(a). See In re Packard Square
LLC, 575 B.R. 768, 783 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2017); In re
Packard Square LLC, 577 B.R. 533, 537-38 (Bankr. E.D.
Mich. 2017), aff'd., 586 B.R. 853 (E.D. Mich. 2018); In re
Skymark Properties II, LLC, 597 B.R. 391, 403 (Bankr.
E.D. Mich. 2019).

G. Discussion of the Stay Relief Motion
The Court's decision to dismiss this bankruptcy case will
make MJCC's Stay Relief Motion moot. The automatic
stay will terminate upon the dismissal of this case. See

11 U.S.C. §§ 362(c)(1) and 362(c)(2)(B). So the Court
will deny the Stay Relief Motion, as moot.

IV. Conclusion
For the reasons stated in this Opinion, the Court will enter
orders (1) denying the Debtor's Lease Rejection Motion;
(2) granting the UST's Dismissal Motion, and dismissing
this case, with a two-year bar to refiling; and (3) denying
the Stay Relief Motion, as moot.

All Citations

--- B.R. ----, 2019 WL 2202742

Footnotes
1 See Order Allowing Debtor's Supplemental Brief, [etc.], filed March 18, 2019 (Docket # 90).
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2 Docket ## 88-1, 96, 99.

3 This is the Debtor's second Chapter 11 bankruptcy case. The Debtor filed its first such case in this Court on April 19,
2013 (Case No. 13-47956). That case was dismissed on October 25, 2013, with a 180-day bar to refiling, after the Debtor
failed to timely file a plan and disclosure statement. See Order Dismissing Case, filed October 25, 2013 (Docket # 79
in Case No. 13-47956).

4 Debtor's Obj. to the U.S. Trustee's Mot. to Dismiss (Docket # 40) at 2, ¶ 3.

5 See Debtor's Obj. to the U.S. Trustee's Mot. to Dismiss (Docket # 40) at 2, ¶ 4; Petition (Docket # 1) at 4; Statement
Regarding Authority to Sign and File Petition, filed December 16, 2018 (Docket # 3); Statement of Debtor Regarding
Corporate Ownership, and List of Equity Security Holders, filed December 25, 2018 (Docket # 10). The Debtor admitted
that Weaam Nocha is the owner of the Nocha Property, in answering the United States Trustee's motion to dismiss.
(Debtor's Obj. to the U.S. Trustee's Mot. to Dismiss (Docket # 40) at 2, ¶ 4.) But in another pleading, involving a different
motion, the Debtor stated that the Nocha Property is owned by “Weaam Nocha ... and his wife, Rafah Dawood[.]” (Debtor's
Mot. to Enforce the Automatic Stay, [etc.] (Docket # 104) at 1-2, ¶ 2; Debtor's Br. (Docket # 104-1) at 2-3). But in that
same pleading, the Debtor stated that this property is owned by “Nocha and/or Dawood.” (See Debtor's Mot. to Enforce
the Automatic Stay, [etc.] (Docket # 104) at 2, ¶ 5; Debtor's Br. (Docket # 104-1) at 3, 18). In yet another pleading, the
Debtor stated that the Nocha Property is owned “by Weaam Nocha and/or his wife, Rafah Dawood.” (Debtor's Obj. to
MJCC's Mot. to Lift Stay (Docket # 73) at 3). This inconsistency in the Debtor's pleadings is not material to the Court's
decision on the pending motions.

6 See, e.g., Debtor's Obj. to the U.S. Trustee's Mot. to Dismiss (Docket # 40) at 4, ¶ 21.

7 Docket # 41-1.

8 See November Lease at 1, ¶ 1 and Ex. A thereto.

9 See id. at 12, ¶ 39 and Ex. B thereto.

10 See id. at 12, ¶ 40 and Ex. C thereto; see also discussion of the relief granted by a decision of the state court in the
State Court Lawsuit discussed below.

11 November Lease at 2, ¶ 4 (emphasis in original).

12 Id. at 1, ¶ 1.

13 The Debtor continues to make this assertion in this bankruptcy case. (See, e.g., Debtor's Obj. to the U.S. Trustee's Mot.
to Dismiss (Docket # 40) at 2, ¶ 8).

14 Docket # 41-4.

15 See, e.g., State Court Decision at ¶¶ 69, 96, 97.

16 Id. at ¶¶ 155, 156, 168.

17 See id. at ¶¶ 63, 124, 155, 156, 158, 165-170, 176. This latter finding of the state court, that the Debtor signed the
November Lease as agent of and on behalf of the sole owner, Weaam Nocha, makes sense because the state court
found that Weaam Nocha, not the Debtor, was the “sole owner” of the Nocha Property. Moreover, Weaam Nocha's status
as the real party-in-interest lessor under the November Lease is clearly implied in the state court's findings that (1) “as
the sole owner of the [Nocha] Property, Mr. Nocha had full authority to grant possessory rights to the [Nocha] Property;”
id. at ¶ 158; and (2) the Debtor had the authority, as agent, to bind Weaam Nocha to “lease the [Nocha] Property;” see
id. at ¶¶ 165-167, 170.

18 See id. at ¶¶ 94, 106, 123.

19 See id. at ¶¶ 53, 58, 109, 152. The November Lease was signed on November 16, 2016, and states in the first paragraph
that its “Effective Date” was November 16, 2016. (November Lease at 1). As the State Court Decision found, MJCC's
right to exclusive possession of the Nocha Property began 10 days after the Effective Date of the November Lease, i.e.,
on November 26, 2016. (See State Court Decision at ¶ 109; November Lease at 3, ¶ 8).
The “term” of the November Lease, and MJCC's obligation to pay rent, was defined to occur “beginning on the date [MJCC]
receives approval from the City of Detroit for its Designated Use [i.e., as a ‘licensed medical marijuana dispensary’].” (See
November Lease at 1, ¶ 1; 2, ¶ 4). As the State Court Decision found, this identical language was contained in an earlier
lease signed by the parties on February 15, 2016 (referred to in the State Court Decision as the “February Lease”), which
February Lease was later replaced by the November Lease. And the State Court Decision also found that this required
approval from the City of Detroit was obtained by MJCC on November 10, 2016. (See State Court Decision at ¶¶ 15,
53, 58, 152). Although the State Court Decision found in one paragraph of the decision that the City of Detroit's approval
was a “conditional” approval, (State Court Decision at ¶ 58 (“On November 10, 2016, the City of Detroit granted MJCC
conditional approval for a license to operate a [medical marijuana] Dispensary.”)), the State Court Decision made clear
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in at least two other paragraphs that the November 10, 2016 approval by the City of Detroit was sufficient to trigger
the beginning of the Lease “term” under the identical language in the February Lease and the November Lease. (See
State Court Decision at ¶ 53 (finding that MJCC's obligation to pay rent under the terms of the February Lease began
when it “obtained approval from the City of Detroit to operate a medical marijuana dispensary at the Property ... [which
it obtained on] November 10, 2016”), ¶ 152 (finding that “the date [MJCC] receive[d] approval from the City of Detroit for
its Designated Use [a licensed medical marijuana dispensary]” was November 10, 2016 (“MJCC obtained approval from
the City of Detroit on November 10, 2016, but Defendants refused to give them possession.”)

20 State Court Decision at ¶¶ 2-3.

21 Id. at ¶ 2.

22 Id. at ¶ 5.

23 See, e.g., id. at ¶¶ 54-56, 55 n.5, 59, 70-79, 139-147.

24 November Lease at 1, ¶ 2(a).

25 See, e.g., State Court Decision at ¶¶ 70-74, 55 & n.5.

26 See, e.g., id. at ¶¶ 72, 76.

27 See, e.g., id. at ¶ 76.

28 See, e.g., id. at ¶¶ 76-79, 139-147.

29 Id. at 27.

30 Id.

31 Id.

32 Id.

33 Id.

34 The Full Faith and Credit Statute states, in relevant part:
The ... judicial proceedings of any court of any ... State ... shall have the same full faith and credit in every court
within the United States ... as they have by law or usage in the courts of such State ... from which they are taken.

28 U.S.C. § 1738.

35 Effective December 4, 2008, Michigan enacted legislation to allow the medical use of marijuana under state law, in the
act known as the “Michigan Medical Marihuana Act,” Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. §§ 333.26421 through 333.26430. This
Act was passed by voter initiative, by the approval of Michigan voters in the November 2008 election. This Act was later
amended, with amendments that became effective April 1, 2013, December 20, 2016, and April 10, 2017. Also added to
Michigan law, in 2016, was the “Marihuana Tracking Act” (effective December 20, 2016 and later amended effective March
21, 2019), Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. §§ 333.27901 through 333.27904, and the “Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing
Act” (effective December 20, 2016 and later amended effective January 26, 2018, January 1, 2019, March 28, 2019, and
April 16, 2019), Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. §§ 333.27101 through 333.27801.
Recently, Michigan enacted legislation to make marijuana legal under state and local law for recreational use, for adults 21
years of age or older. This legislation was passed by voter initiative, by the approval of Michigan voters in the November
2018 election. It became effective on December 6, 2018, and is known as the “Michigan Regulation and Taxation of
Marihuana Act,” Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. §§ 333.27951 through 333.27967. Among other things, this Act provides for the
licensing, regulation, and taxation of “marihuana establishments.” The Act gives the Michigan Department of Licensing
and Regulatory Affairs up to one year after the effective date of the Act (i.e., until December 6, 2019) to promulgate rules

for implementation of the Act. See Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. §§ 333.27953(b), 333.27953(h), 333.27957, 333.27958,
333.27966.

36 Id.

37 The Way to Grow court noted that “there remains an ever-shifting landscape of federal enforcement of marijuana
criminalization where the same activity is fully legal under state law.” 597 B.R. at 117 (footnote omitted). As an example
of this “ever-shifting landscape,” the court cited the Trump administration's 2018 revocation of the enforcement policy
announced in 2013 by the Obama administration. Id. at 117 n.24 (citing “James M. Cole, Deputy Attorney General,
MEMORANDUM FOR ALL UNITED STATES ATTORNEYS: GUIDANCE REGARDING MARIJUANA ENFORCEMENT
(Aug. 29, 2013) (commonly known as the “Cole Memo”); but see Jeffrey B. Sessions, Attorney General, MEMORANDUM
FOR ALL UNITED STATES ATTORNEYS: MARIJUANA ENFORCEMENT (January 4, 2018) (revoking Cole Memo)”).

38 In addition to the cases discussed in this Opinion, this Court has reviewed and considered all of the cases cited by the
parties. And the Court is aware of the May 2, 2019 decision by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, in Garvin v. Cook Invs.
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NW, 922 F.3d 1031 (9th Cir. 2019). In Garvin, the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed a bankruptcy court's
confirmation of a Chapter 11 plan, over the objection of the UST, even though one of the debtors had a tenant who was
involved in a marijuana growing operation. But Garvin involved only a narrow issue of law that is not before this Court.
The issue was whether the debtors' plan met the confirmation requirement in 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(3), that the plan be
“proposed ... not by any means forbidden by law.” The court of appeals held that this provision in § 1129(a)(3) applies
only to the “means of a reorganization plan's proposal, not its substantive provisions.” Garvin, 922 F.3d at 1033, 1035
(italics in original). Thus, the court held that the quoted prong of § 1129(a)(3) was not violated by the substance of the
confirmed plan, including the debtor's continuing to lease its building to a marijuana grower in violation of federal law.
In Garvin, earlier in the bankruptcy case, before the plan was confirmed by the bankruptcy court, the UST had filed a
motion to dismiss, based on the one debtor's leasing to a marijuana grower. The dismissal motion argued that “cause”
existed to dismiss that debtor's case, because of “gross mismanagement of the estate” by the debtor, within the meaning
of 11 U.S.C. § 1112(b)(4)(B). 922 F.3d at 1033. The bankruptcy court denied that dismissal motion, “but with leave to
renew [it] at the plan confirmation hearing.” Garvin, 922 F.3d at 1034. But the UST failed to renew its dismissal motion
at the confirmation hearing, and instead argued only its objection to confirmation based on § 1129(a)(3). In affirming
confirmation of the debtors' plan, the court of appeals ruled that the UST waived its dismissal motion argument under §
1112(b). For this reason, the court of appeals refused to address that issue.
The decision of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in Garvin is not binding on this Court, and, with respect, this Court
does not necessarily agree with the Garvin court's holding about § 1129(a)(3). And, respectfully, one might reasonably
question whether the Garvin court should have refused to decide the § 1112(b) dismissal issue. That refusal, on waiver
grounds, arguably is questionable, because it allowed the affirmance, by a federal court, of the confirmation of a Chapter
11 plan under which a debtor would continue to violate federal criminal law under the CSA.

39 UST Mot. (Docket # 30) at 1.

40 No one has argued that it is in the best interests of the creditors and the estate to appoint a Chapter 11 trustee under 11
U.S.C. § 1104(a) or to appoint an examiner. See 11 U.S.C. § 1112(b)(1). The Court finds that neither of these choices is
in the best interests of the creditors and the estate. This is so because neither of these options would serve any useful
purpose in this case, and also for the same reasons why dismissal, rather than conversion, is in the best interests of the
creditors and the estate, as discussed below. So the choice under § 1112(b)(1) is between dismissal and conversion.

41 The Debtor's monthly operating reports filed in this case show that the Debtor's income from its custom cabinets business
is rather small. These reports show that the Debtor's total income was zero for the partial month of December 16-31,
2018 (Docket # 31 at 2); $ 16,000.00 in January 2019 (Docket # 62 at 2); $ 48,500.00 in February 2019 (Docket # 91 at
2); $ 10,000.00 in March 2019 (Docket # 103 at 2), and $ 13,000.00 in April 2019 (Docket # 112 at 2).

42 Under § 362(a)(1), the filing of the bankruptcy petition in this case operates as a stay, among other things, of the
“commencement or continuation ... of a judicial ... action or proceeding against the debtor that was or could have been

commenced before the commencement of the case under this title.” Under § 362(a)(3), the automatic stay prevents,
among other things, “any act to obtain possession” not only of “property of the estate,” but also of “property from the
estate.” (emphasis added).

43 See UST Suppl. Br. (Docket # 96) at 2.
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 By Jason Rosell, Pachulski Stang Ziehl & Jones LLP

Recreational cannabis use became legal in Canada on October 17, 2018.
Canada is now the second country in the world—and the first G-7 nation—to
authorize a national cannabis market.  The passage of Bill C-45, otherwise
known as the Cannabis Act, marks a historical moment for advocates of
cannabis legalization.

In the United States in 2018, cannabis supporters celebrated smaller victories,
with nine states and the District of Columbia now allowing for recreational
cannabis use and 30 states allowing for medical cannabis use. Yet cannabis
remains illegal in the United States at the federal level.

The uncertainty and conflict surrounding the legality of cannabis in the United
States have not stunted the substantial investments that continue to flow into
the burgeoning international cannabis industry. In August 2018, for example,

Constellation Brands, the public company behind Robert Mondavi wine and Corona beer, announced a $4 billion
investment in Canopy Growth Corporation, a Canadian public company and leading provider of medicinal cannabis
products. This latest investment increased Constellation Brands’ stake from 9.9 percent to 38 percent, with an option to
purchase shares sufficient to increase its stake to more than 50 percent.

Similarly, in May 2017, ScottsMiracle-Gro, the lawn and garden products leader, announced that it was selling its
international business in Europe and Australia and investing $150 million of the proceeds into growth areas like
hydroponics and soilless gardening, both often used in marijuana cultivation. In yet another example, in 2015, Pax Labs,
a manufacturer of portable vaporizers, raised $46.7 million from established investors, including Fidelity Investments.

This appetite for risk in the United States is not surprising considering the projected growth in the cannabis industry. In
California, where recreational cannabis became legal on January 1, 2017, legal cannabis sales are expected to reach $3.1
billion in 2018 and grow to $7.6 billion by 2022. In the United States, legal cannabis sales are expected to reach $24.1
billion by 2025, up from $6.6 billion in 2016.

Notwithstanding the industry’s projected growth, business failures, whether from insufficient capital, natural disasters, or
plain old-fashioned bad management, are inevitable. Traditionally, companies that fail or face financial distress in the
United States can file bankruptcy, which allows for either a financial or operational reorganization or the orderly
liquidation of assets to maximize value for stakeholders. However, cannabis companies are effectively prohibited from
filing bankruptcy in the United States.

Will U.S. Cannabis Companies Find Grass Is Greener in
Canada for Restructuring?
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Bankruptcy Courts generally dismiss cannabis-related cases on grounds that either (1) a bankruptcy trustee cannot
administer the assets without violating federal law or (2) a Chapter 11 or Chapter 13 bankruptcy plan cannot comply
with the good faith requirements of Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code because such a plan would necessarily seek to
violate federal law, i.e., the Controlled Substances Act.

This result—the unfortunate byproduct of U.S. states allowing conduct that the federal government does not—is causing
substantial challenges for restructuring professionals. Traditionally, bankruptcy serves as a storm shelter for distressed
companies, but its protections are not available to the myriad cannabis companies expanding under the hope of full
legalization.

In other words, cannabis companies—and their creditors—are left exposed at a time when a distressed storm is gathering
on the horizon for them. The projected growth of the legal cannabis industry is attracting sophisticated investors, whose
investments are driving a robust industry consolidation in search of economies of scale. There will inevitably be losers—
but with access to U.S. Bankruptcy Courts effectively shut off to cannabis companies, how will these distressed
companies effectively restructure or liquidate?

Assignments for the benefit of creditors (ABCs) and state court receiverships may be viable options, but each has its
drawbacks. Specifically, an ABC does not stay litigation, and litigious creditors can frustrate a potential sale of the
company. In addition, the assignee of an ABC is generally selected by the company and lacks the power or ability to
conduct a fulsome forensic investigation, something investors may want to pursue if they suspect mismanagement of
funds. State court receivers generally are not authorized under applicable receivership statutes to recover preferential
payments to creditors or insiders that occurred prior to the receivership.

Chapter 15 – Comity vs. Public Policy

A creative option exists for U.S. cannabis companies with a presence in Canada looking to effectuate a restructuring or
orderly liquidation: a Canadian insolvency proceeding coupled with a Chapter 15 proceeding in the United States.
Though this scenario remains untested, it is established that Canada allows cannabis companies to institute insolvency
proceedings. For example, in the context of its restructuring process under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, Peloton
Pharmaceuticals Inc. sold its assets to Aurora Cannabis Inc., a publicly traded company listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange. The transaction was done through a proposal providing for a reorganization of Peloton’s share capital,
allowing creditors to be paid in full.

Further, this option has the potential to apply to a great many cannabis companies. Established cannabis companies
based in the United States are no stranger to Canada. In fact, there is a growing trend of stateside companies tapping the
Canadian capital markets. For example, MedMen Enterprises Inc., a vertically integrated cannabis company with
cultivation, manufacturing, and dispensary operations, operates in California, New York, and Nevada, and recently listed
its shares publicly on the Canadian Securities Exchange with an approximate $1.75 billion market cap.

Unlike common Chapter 7 or Chapter 11 plenary insolvency proceedings, Chapter 15 cases are specialized ancillary
proceedings intended to provide effective mechanisms for dealing with cases of cross-border insolvency. Importantly,
cases commenced under Chapter 15 also provide many of the protections afforded to companies in Chapter 7 or Chapter
11, including a stay of all pending litigation and collection efforts to provide a distressed company with breathing room
to restructure. 11 U.S.C. Sections 1501(a) and 1520.

However, there are several key differences between an ancillary Chapter 15 case and a plenary Chapter 7 or Chapter 11
case. In the context of distressed cannabis companies, the key relevant difference is that, unlike a plenary case, an
ancillary Chapter 15 case does not create an estate under Section 541(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.  Accordingly, the
hypothetical concerns of the United States Trustee regarding administering cannabis assets are not applicable.
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Nevertheless, any debtor seeking Chapter 15 recognition of a Canadian insolvency proceeding should be prepared for the
United States Trustee to dispute the filing. The United States Trustee can reasonably be expected to argue that the public
policy exception applies such that a U.S. Bankruptcy Court should refuse to recognize the foreign reorganization of a
cannabis business as “manifestly contrary to the public policy of the United States.” 11 U.S.C. Section 1506 (emphasis
added).

But hope for future cannabis debtors is not lost. The public policy exception of Chapter 15 was adopted from the model
law put forth by the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL). Thus, UNCITRAL’s interpretation
of the public policy exception is instructive. Member countries of UNCITRAL have historically viewed the exception as
limited to issues of a constitutional nature and for narrow construction in an international context. UNCITRAL added the
word “manifestly” to its model law to make this intended narrow scope clear on the face of the statue.

Further, there is case law from U.S. Bankruptcy Courts to support the limited public policy exception in Section 1506. In
RSM Richter Inc. v. Aguilar, the court noted that the legislative history of Section 1506 limits its use to “the most
fundamental policies of the United States” and ruled that certain claims resolution mediation procedures implemented
by the Ontario Superior Court were fair and impartial and not manifestly contrary to the public policy of the United
States.

In In re Metcalfe & Mansfield Alternative Investments, the Bankruptcy Court considered whether enforcing non-debtor
releases contained in a Canadian order would be manifestly contrary to the public policy of the United States and noted
that the releases and the Canadian lower court’s jurisdiction to grant them had been approved by the Canadian Court of
Appeals.  The Bankruptcy Court also noted that the Section 1506 public policy exception was to be narrowly construed,
that “[t]he relief granted in the foreign proceeding and the relief available in a U.S. proceeding need not be identical,”
and that comity should be granted to the Canadian orders.

In contrast, the court in In re Qimonda took a more expansive approach to the exception on remand, ultimately declining
to defer to the German law that permitted the administrator to terminate patent licenses. The Qimonda court found that
failure to apply Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code would undermine the public policy of the United States of
promoting technological innovation.

While controversial for its broader interpretation of the public policy exception, the decision in In re Qimonda is at least
arguably consistent with the widely accepted understanding that the exception should be limited to “the most
fundamental policies of the United States;” the promotion of technological innovation is commanded by the U.S.
Constitution itself. Article I, Section 8, Clause 8.

Prior to remand, the District Court in In re Qimonda espoused the following three principles to guide courts in applying
the public policy exception:

1. The mere fact of a conflict between foreign law and U.S. law is not sufficient to support a public policy exception
 

2. Deference should not be afforded to a foreign proceeding if its procedural fairness is in doubt and cannot be
cured
 

3. An action should not be taken in a Chapter 15 proceeding where it would frustrate a U.S. court’s ability to
administer the Chapter 15 case or would severely impinge a U.S. constitutional right.
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Applying these factors, a U.S. Bankruptcy Court may legitimately conclude that the recognition of a Canadian plenary
proceeding involving cannabis assets is not contrary to public policy. First, as recognized in Qimonda, a conflict between
foreign law and U.S. law is not sufficient to support the public policy exception. Second, there is nothing to suggest that
Canadian insolvency proceedings are inherently unfair, as they are consistently recognized in the United States. Third,
recognition of a Canadian cannabis proceeding would not frustrate the U.S. court’s ability to administer a Chapter 15
case or infringe on U.S. constitutional rights. To the contrary, recognition of a Canadian cannabis proceeding would
provide a forum for U.S. creditors to adjudicate their claims in a fair and equitable manner.

Conclusion

Until cannabis becomes legal on a federal level in the United States and companies and their creditors operating in the
space are able to access the country’s Bankruptcy Courts, a Canadian plenary proceeding coupled with a Chapter 15
ancillary proceeding may be a practical and creative solution. This idea may face staunch opposition, but practitioners
should welcome the challenge and strive to forge a new path.

1. Uruguay legalized cannabis in 2013, although legal retail sales did not begin until 2017.
2. The State of the Legal Marijuana Markets, 6th Edition, produced by Arcview Market Research & BDS Analytics.
3. In re Arenas, 514 B.R. 887 (Bankr. D. Colo. Aug. 28, 2014) (marijuana grower’s Chapter 7 case dismissed because

the trustee could not administer the business without violating federal law); In re McGinnis, 453 B.R. 770 (Bankr.
D. Or. 2011) (the Bankruptcy Court denied confirmation of a Chapter 13 plan on feasibility, stating the sale and
cultivation of marijuana is illegal under federal law).

4. A plan must be proposed in good faith. Courts have held that a plan proposed by a debtor that is involved in an
illegal enterprise is not in good faith, even where the debtor does not have a subjective bad motive. Arenas v. U.S.
Trustee (In re Arenas), 535 B.R. 845, 852-53 (10th Cir. BAP 2015); In re Rent-Rite Super Kegs W., Ltd., 484 B.R. 799,
809-10 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2012). Moreover, some courts have concluded that a debtor engaged in an illegal business
who seeks bankruptcy relief comes into court with unclean hands and is not eligible for relief. Id. at 807; cf. In re
Medpoint Mgmt., LLC, 528 B.R. 178, 184-87 (Bankr. D. Ariz. 2015) (petitioning creditors who knew the debtor was
engaged in the cannabis business had unclean hands and could not seek relief from the Bankruptcy Court).

5. In the event a cannabis company is accessing Canadian capital markets without a presence in Canada or by a non-
Canadian entity, it may be worthwhile to establish a Canadian holding company with a presence in Canada.

6. In re JSC BTA Bank, 434 B.R. 334, 341 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2010).
7. Guide to Enactment of Model Law of 1997, ¶¶ 87–89. The Guide to Enactment was revised in 2013.
8. RSM Richter Inc. v. Aguilar (In re Ephedra Products Liability Litigation), 349 B.R. 333 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).
9. In re Metcalfe & Mansfield Alternative Investments, 421 B.R. 685 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2010).

10. Id. at 697-98.
11. In re Qimonda AG, 462 B.R. 165 (Bankr. E.D. Vir. 2011), certified for direct appeal, 470 B.R. 374 (E.D. Va. 2012), aff’d,

Jaffé v. Samsung Elecs. Co., 737 F.3d 14 (4th Cir. 2013).
12. In re Qimonda AG Bankr. Litig., 433 B.R. 547, 570 (E.D. Va. 2010).
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